

# LUND UNIVERSITY

## WILMS' TUMOUR GENE 1 PROTEIN (WT1) – AN EFFECTOR IN LEUKEMOGENESIS?

Vidovic, Karina

2010

Link to publication

*Citation for published version (APA):* Vidovic, K. (2010). *WILMS' TUMOUR GENE 1 PROTEIN (WT1) – AN EFFECTOR IN LEUKEMOGENESIS?* [Doctoral Thesis (compilation), Division of Hematology and Clinical Immunology]. Lund University: Faculty of Medicine.

Total number of authors:

#### General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

- or research.
- You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
   You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

#### Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

LUND UNIVERSITY

**PO Box 117** 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00

# Division of Hematology and Transfusion Medicine Lund University, Lund, Sweden

# WILMS' TUMOUR GENE 1 PROTEIN (WT1) – AN EFFECTOR IN LEUKEMOGENESIS?

# Karina Vidovic



## LUND UNIVERSITY Faculty of Medicine

Thesis 2010

#### **Contact adress**

Karina Vidovic Division of Hematology and Transfusion Medicine BMC, C14 Klinikgatan 28 SE- 221 84 Lund Sweden

Phone +46 46 222 07 30 e-mail: <u>karina.vidovic@med.lu.se</u>

ISBN 978-91-86443-99-3 © Karina Vidovic Printed by Media-Tryck, Lund, Sweden

"The journey of a thousand miles begins with one step" Lao Tzu (Chinese taoist), 600-531 BC

#### LIST OF PAPERS

This thesis is based on the following papers, referred to in the text by their Roman numerals

- I. Svensson E\*, Vidovic K\*, Lassen C, Richter J, Olofsson T, Fioretos T and Gullberg U. Deregulation of the Wilms' tumour gene 1 protein (WT1) by BCR/ABL1 mediates resistance to imatinib in human leukaemia cells. *Leukemia*, 21(12):2485-94, 2007 (\*equal contribution)
- II. Vidovic K, Svensson E, Nilsson B, Thuresson B, Olofsson T, Lennartsson A and Gullberg U. Wilms' tumour gene 1 (WT1) protein represses the expression of the tumour suppressor Interferon Regulatory Factor 8 in human hematopoietic progenitors and in leukemic cells. *Leukemia*, 24(5):992-1000, 2010
- III. Svensson E, Vidovic K, Olofsson T, Vallon-Christersson J, Borg A and Gullberg U. The Wilms' tumor gene 1 (WT1) induces expression of the N-myc downstream regulated gene 2 (NDRG2). DNA Cell Biol. 26:589-97, 2007
- IV. Vidovic K, Rosberg B, Olofsson T and Gullberg U. Leukemia associated mutant WT1 protein promotes proliferation and erythroid differentiation of human hematopoietic progenitor cells. *Manuscript*

Paper I and II are reproduced with permission from Nature Publishing Group Paper III is reproduced with permission from Mary Ann Liebert, Inc. Publishers.

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

SELECTED ABBREVIATIONS	8
INTRODUCTION	9
BACKGROUND	10
Wilms' tumour gene 1 (WT1)	10
Historical Background	10
How WT1 is structured	10
Regulation of the WT1 gene expression	12
Post-translational modifications of WT1	14
The expression pattern and developmental role of WT1	14
WT1 and differentiation	16
WT1 and cell cycle control	16
WT1 and apoptosis	17
Target genes of WT1	18
Protein partners of WT1	20
WT1- an oncogene?	22
Hematopoiesis	24
WT1 and hematopoiesis	25
WT1 expression in primary leukemia	26
Expression levels of WT1 correlate to poor clinical prognosis	27
Immunotheraphy targeting of WT1	28
Effects of WT1-modulation in leukemic cell lines and animal models	28
WT1 mutations in leukemia	29
THE PRESENT INVESTIGATION	32
AIM	32
RESULTS AND GENERAL DISCUSSION	32
WT1 functions as an oncogene in leukemia	32
Molecular mechanisms for overexpression of WT1 in leukemia	33
What are the molecular consequences of overexpressed WT1?	39
WT1 down-modulates IRF8	40
Effects of WT1 on expression of the NDRG2 gene	43
Is WT1(del Z) an oncogenic gain-of-function mutation?	44
CONCLUSIONS	48
SVENSK SAMMANFATTNING (SUMMARY IN SWEDISH)	51
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	54
REFERENCES	56
Appendix: Papers I-IV	76

### SELECTED ABBREVIATIONS

Abelson murine leukemia viral oncogene		
homolog 1		
Acute lymphocytic leukemia		
Acute myeloid leukemia		
Breakpoint cluster region		
Basic local alignment search tool		
Cluster of determination		
Chromatin immunoprecipitation		
Chronic myeloid leukemia		
4', 6-diamidino-2-phenylindole		
Fluorescence activated cell sorting		
Gene expression omnibus		
Green fluorescence protein		
Granulocyte colony-stimulating factor		
Hematopoietic stem cell		
Interferon		
Interferon regulatory factor 8		
Interferon stimulated gene of 15 kDa		
mammalian target of rapamycin		
National Center for Biotechnology Information		
N-myc downstream regulated gene 2		
Phosphoinositide-3 kinase		
Rapid amplification of cDNA ends		
quantitative polymerase chain reaction		
Signal transducer and activator of transcription		
WT1 response element		
Wilms' tumour gene 1		

#### INTRODUCTION

The word leukemia originates from the Greek word *leukos*, meaning white and *haima* meaning blood. Patients suffering from leukemia often have high amounts of white blood cells sometimes as high as twenty-five times the normal value, because of accumulation of immature dysfunctional white blood cells in bone marrow and peripheral blood. These malignant blood cells may in some types of leukemia invade and enlarge organs and tissues as spleen, liver and lymph glands and patients may have symptoms of fatigue, sweating, growing thin, bleeding and infections.

The prevalence of newly diagnosed leukemias in Sweden is about 1150 cases per year, which represents 2.5% of the annual reported cancers in male and 2.0% of the reported cases in females. Leukemias are classified into myeloid or lymphoid depending on the differentiation status of the cells and they are further divided into chronic or acute leukemias. Acute leukemias, as the terminology implies, are quickly developed into deadly diseases if left untreated as compared to chronic leukemias, which have a more slow progress. Most chronic leukemias, however, finally enter a more progressive, acute phase.

The transition of a normal cell to a leukemic cell depends on genetic changes, leading to disturbed gene and protein function in the cell. Today, we have a large but yet incomplete knowledge about mutations, deletions, translocations and epigenetic changes involved in the development of leukemia. Importantly, obtained knowledge has in some cases led to novel ways to treat leukemia patients.

The Wilms' tumour gene 1 (WT1) is a gene that is frequently overexpressed in leukemia, and accordingly disturbed function of WT1 has been suggested to play a pathogenic role in the leukemic cell.

The aim of this thesis has been to increase our knowledge and understanding of the molecular mechanisms by which WT1 can be involved in leukemogenesis.

#### BACKGROUND

#### Wilms' tumour gene 1 (WT1)

#### Historical Background

Max Wilms (1867-1918) was a German surgeon who studied pediatric kidney tumours and a thorough review over his findings, *Die Mischgescwülste der Niere*, was published in 1899. A certain kind of kidney cancer in children was named as Wilms' tumour. During operation of a French officer, an enemy prisoner of the World War I, Max Wilms was unfortunately infected with diphtheria and died in this disease. In 1990, almost 100 years after the publication of his monograph on the pathology of the childhood kidney tumours, two different research groups cloned the gene linked to a specific mutation, a deletion of chromosome region 11p13 found in 10% of the Wilms' tumour cases<sup>1.2</sup> and accordingly, the identified gene was named Wilms' tumour gene 1.



Figure 1. Max Wilms (1867-1918) (Adopted from http://pages.unibas.ch/alumni-medizin/wilms.jpg)

#### How WT1 is structured

Wilms' tumour gene 1 (WT1) spans 50 kb genomic DNA and consists of 10 exons which encodes an mRNA transcript of about 3.2 kb. The mRNA translates into a 429 amino acid protein with a proline and glutamine rich amino terminus harbouring defined functional domains exerting transcriptional repression, activation, self-association, RNA-recognition and nuclear localization signals. The carboxyl terminal part of WT1 contains four Cys<sub>2</sub>His<sub>2</sub> zinc-fingers, encoded by exon 7-10, conferring specific DNA-binding. Due to

alternative splicing of the WT1 pre-mRNA there are four major isoforms: WT1 (-17AA/-KTS), WT1 (+17AA/-KTS), WT1 (-17AA/+KTS) and WT1 (+17AA/+KTS), ranging in size between 52-54 kDa (reviewed in Reddy and Licht, 1996)<sup>3</sup>.

The first alternative splicing event affects the entire exon 5 and leads to presence or absence of 17 amino acids (17AA). The second alternative splicing event generates an insertion/no insertion of three amino acids, lysine, threonine, serine (KTS), in the very end of exon nine, affecting the conformation of zinc-finger three and four in the WT1 protein. Additional functional WT1 protein isoforms are generated by RNA editing at codon 280, resulting in a replacement of leucine to proline<sup>4</sup>.

To further increase the complexity of WT1 activity and expression, there are also larger WT1 proteins, generated through a translation initiated at a CUG upstream of the initator  $AUG^5$ , and an evolutionary conserved internal translation initiation site at the second in-frame AUG of the WT1 mRNA with N-terminally truncated WT1 isoforms, ranging between 36-38 kDa, derived from this initiation site<sup>6</sup>.

A new isoform, termed sWT1 due to its small size (35-37 kDa), was identified a few years ago. A second promoter, located in intron one generates mRNA that codes for the sWT1 protein, which lacks the repression domain found in the N-terminus of the full-length protein. The sWT1 was reported to be overrepresented in leukemic samples and to confer oncogenic properties due to strong activation of certain WT1 target genes, as compared to full-length WT1<sup>7</sup>.



Figure 2. Schematic picture over the structure and functional domains of WT1 protein (not drawn to scale). Indicated in the figure are the repression domain (RD), activation domain (AD), RNA-binding domain (RNA), self-association domain (S-A), nuclear localization motifs (NLS) and the four zinc-fingers with DNA-binding capacity. The four major isoforms are shown, as well as isoforms generated by alternative translation start sites, and sWT1 generated by a second promoter. One mutant form of WT1, lacking the carboxyl terminal zinc-fingers is also shown. The numbers indicate the nucleotide position at the translation start site in the WT1 mRNAs. The translation start site for the major WT1 isoforms is defined as ATG(1).

#### Regulation of the WT1 gene expression

The GC-rich WT1 promoter lacks a TATA box<sup>8,9</sup> and contains no CCAATmotif<sup>10</sup>. The proximal promoter of the WT1 gene is transcriptionally active in several cell lines, independent of WT1 expression, and therefore tissue-specific expression of the WT1 gene must depend on additional regulatory elements<sup>10</sup>. The mechanisms for tissue-specific transcriptional regulation of WT1 are to a large extent unexplored. The hematopoietic globin transcription factor 1, GATA-1, has been implied in the regulation of WT1 expression in hematopoietic cells<sup>11-13</sup>. In acute myeloid leukemias a correlation of PAX2 levels with WT1 expression has been observed<sup>12</sup>, which suggests PAX2 to be a WT1-activator in a subset of AMLs. PAX2 has previously been detected as a regulator of the WT1 promoter<sup>14,15</sup>. Pea3 (polyomavirus enhancer activator 3), a transcription factor co-expressed with WT1 in the developing kidney transactivates the WT1 promoter<sup>16</sup>. Other transcription factors reported to affect WT1 expression include Sp1<sup>17</sup>, WT1<sup>18</sup> (negative autoregulation), PAX8<sup>19</sup> and nuclear factor kappa B, NF- $\kappa$ B<sup>20</sup>.

A WT1 hematopoietic specific orientation-independent 3'-enhancer element activated by GATA-1 was identified in K562, HEL cells<sup>13</sup> and in acute leukemia samples, where a positive correlation between WT1 and GATA-1/GATA-2 mRNA levels was evident<sup>21</sup>. A second hematopoietic-specific enhancer sequence located in the region between the 3'-end of exon 2 and the beginning of intron 3 can be transactivated by GATA-1 and c-Myb. This intronic enhancer is more active in cells of myeloid lineage type, as compared to the 3'-enhancer, which is active in cells with erythroid phenotype<sup>11</sup>.

Transcription of WT1 is promoted by co-operation of p300, a histone acetyltransferase (HAT) and c-Myb, acting on the WT1 promoter and intronic enhancer<sup>22</sup>. A possible explanation for this regulation is acetylation of histones at these regions by p300, which facilitates transcription of the WT1 gene.

Gene regulation of WT1 through a WT1-antisense transcript complementary to sequences in exon 1 has been proposed to control the expression of WT1 in nephrogenesis<sup>18,23,24</sup>.

A transcriptional silencer, with requirement of Alu repeats, is located in the third intron of the WT1 gene and represses WT1 expression in cell lines of non-renal origin<sup>25</sup>.

In *paper I*, we investigated the effect of PI3K/Akt-signalling on WT1 mRNAexpression. In reporter experiments we detected a prominent repression of the WT1 promoter following PI3K inhibition. The greatest reduction was obtained with a vector construct containing promoter sequence and the 3'enhancer element. Our data are consistent with involvement of GATA-1 in positive regulation of the WT1 promoter downstream of PI3K-signalling in leukemic cells.

#### Post-translational modifications of WT1

The WT1 protein has been proven to interact with the modifying E2-ligase, ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme 9 (Ubc9), now known as a SUMO-1 E2-ligase<sup>26</sup>. SUMO is an ubiquitin related protein, which is covalently attached to specific target proteins, resulting in alteration of their interaction with other proteins, altered localization and stability (reviewed in Wilkinson *et al.*, 2010)<sup>27</sup>. The SUMOylation and ubiquitination processes are biochemically similar and may in some cases function antagonistically, meaning that SUMOylation can counteract ubiquitination and thus prevent protein degradation. The aminoterminal part of WT1 has two consensus-binding sites for SUMO ( $\Psi$ -Lys-X), the lysine residues 73 and 177. Both sites were found to be SUMOylated, however with no functional consequences of SUMOylation identified. Also the nuclear speckled distribution of WT1 (+KTS) seems to be independent of the SUMOylation status of WT1<sup>28</sup>. Therefore, the functional consequences of SUMOylation (if any) remain to be revealed.

Phosphorylation at Ser-365 and Ser-393 in the C-terminal part of the WT1 protein by cAMP dependent protein kinase A (PKA) abolishes the DNAbinding ability, but the RNA binding function is maintained<sup>29,30</sup>. Retention of WT1 in the cytoplasm is detected after PKA-mediated enhanced phosphorylation of WT1<sup>31</sup>. This post-translational modification of WT1 therefore might be a way to modulate the function of WT1.

#### The expression pattern and developmental role of WT1

The ratio between +KTS and -KTS isoforms in normal fetus kidney tissues or in Wilms' tumours with no WT1 mutations is estimated to approximately 2:1<sup>32,33</sup>. The two protein isoforms have different distribution patterns in the nucleus with a more diffuse distribution pattern for the WT1 (-KTS) variants, as compared to the distinct speckled pattern for WT1 (+KTS) isoforms<sup>34</sup>. The WT1 (+KTS) variant is assumed to be involved in the pre-mRNA splicing machinery, since it is co-localized with small nucleoriboproteins in the poly (A)<sup>+</sup> fraction in cellular nuclear extracts<sup>34-37</sup>. The WT1 (+KTS) isoforms also mediate post-transcriptional regulation with enhanced translation from unspliced RNAs with a retained intron by promoting the association with polyribosomes<sup>38</sup>. *In vitro* studies confirm the expected preference for RNA-binding exerted by the WT1 (+KTS), as compared to the WT1 (-KTS) variants, which have a higher DNA binding affinity<sup>39</sup>, the latter confirmed in crystallization studies<sup>40</sup>.

The WT1 protein is a transcription factor with high nucleotide conservation among species. The WT1 (+KTS) and (-KTS) isoforms are present in species ranging from fish to mammals<sup>41-43</sup>. The ratio between the +KTS/-KTS isoforms is critical for proper gonadal and renal development and disturbance of this ratio causes intersex disorders<sup>44</sup>. Specific mutations within the zinc-finger region of the WT1 protein lead to dysregulated sexual and renal development as seen in Denys-Drash syndrome (DDS). A related condition is Frasier syndrome, which due to a mutation in the intron 9 alternative splice donor site, leads to loss of the WT1 (+KTS) isoform<sup>44,45</sup>.

The mammal-specific exon 5 (17AA) is present in mammals only, but seems not to be critical for normal development in mice<sup>46</sup>. The functional role of exon 5 is therefore unclear, but prostate apoptosis response factor 4 (par-4) interacts with the +17AA domain, which mediates conversion of the exon 5 domain into a transcriptional activation domain, possibly affecting cell survival and proliferation<sup>47</sup>. Constitutive expression of WT1 (+17AA) isoforms inhibited apoptosis in a leukemic cell line treated with cytotoxic agents<sup>48</sup>, which further indicates a survival mechanism conferred by these splice isoforms, at least in some cellular contexts.

Studies of the mRNA expression pattern of WT1 during development in the human, the rat and the mouse suggest WT1 to be a tissue-specific gene with spatial and temporal variation in expression levels during development, restricted to the urogenital system, spleen, heart, liver, thymus, mesenchymal structures and central nervous system (CNS) (reviewed in Scharnhorst *et al.* (2001); reviewed in Lee and Haber (2001)<sup>49,50</sup>. In addition, other studies implies that certain WT1 splice variants are predominantly expressed and have essential functions during development of the ganglion cells in the retina and the olfactory epithelium<sup>51,52</sup>.

The essential role for WT1 proteins in development is evident in WT1 knockout mice with both alleles inactivated, showing intrauterine death and a median survival time of less than 14 days *in utero*. The WT1<sup>-/-</sup> mice suffer from abnormalities of the heart and mesothelial structures and a complete failure of the kidney, gonads and spleen organogenesis<sup>53,54</sup>. The WT1<sup>-/-</sup> embryos show a higher degree of programmed cell death, as compared to normal embryos. Most likely, the failure of proper organogenesis depends, at least partially, on enhanced apoptosis.

In the adult, WT1 expression is limited to very few tissues, including podocytes in the kidney<sup>55</sup>, differentiating Sertoli cells in the testis<sup>56</sup> and to granulosa and

epithelial cells of the ovary<sup>49</sup>. WT1 protein expression is enhanced in early pregnancy during differentiation of human endometrial stromal cells into decidual cells<sup>57</sup>.

In adult hematopoiesis WT1 is only expressed in a small fraction of the CD34<sup>+</sup> progenitor cells<sup>58-61</sup>, with a rapid decline during differentation, suggesting a role for WT1 in regulation of early hematopoietic progenitor cells. In the literature only one study report on detectable WT1 expression in mature blood cells<sup>62</sup>.

#### WT1 and differentiation

Besides preventing apoptosis during development, there are indications that WT1 directs differentiation of the developing cells. One example of this is during nerve cell development, where the WT1 protein levels decrease in response to differentiation induced nerve growth factor (NGF) expression. Reduced WT1 mediates less activation of its target gene the epidermal growth factor receptor (EGF-R), leading to lowered mitogenic EGF response, promoting differentiation rather than proliferation. This may indicate that WT1 is involved in neuronal differentiation<sup>63</sup>.

Another example is the insulin-like growth factor 1 receptor (IGF1-R), which is directly controlled at transcriptional level by the WT1 protein. Mutated or absent WT1 protein resulting in persistent IGF-1R expression may contribute to the development of Wilms' tumour, due to disturbed differentiation of the metanephrogenic blastema into renal epithelium<sup>64</sup>.

The effect of ectopic WT1 expression in differentiating human  $CD34^+$  cells, extracted from umbilical cord blood, appears to be stage-specific in hematopoiesis, since quiescence is enhanced in primitive cells, but cellular differentiation in lineage-committed precursors into the myelo-monocytic lineage seems to be stimulated<sup>62,65</sup>. Thus, WT1 can potentiate differentiation in several contexts, and one mechanism may be to restrict cell division, which favours maturation of the cells.

#### WT1 and cell cycle control

WT1 is reported to both enhance and stall the cell cycle progression. For exemple, when WT1 is over-expressed at early to mid-G1 phase in mouse NIH 3T3 cells, the cell cycle is blocked in the S-phase, and one potential explanation for the blocked cell cycle progression is the ability of WT1 to alter expression

of genes encoding cyclins and cyclin dependent kinases  $(CDKs)^{66}$ , and/or through transcription of p21<sup>cip1 67</sup>. WT1 directly represses transcription of the cyclin E gene<sup>68</sup>.

WT1 may also have positive effects on cell cycle control: in breast cancer cells expressing the HER2/neu oncogene, high levels of WT1 protein stimulates S-phase progression and cell proliferation<sup>69</sup>.

### WT1 and apoptosis

There are reports of both negative and positive effects of WT1 on apoptosis. The way how WT1 mediates an anti-apoptotic function is unclear, but several suggestions have been proposed including transcriptional control of cell-surface receptors, such as the insulin-like growth factor receptor  $(IGF-1R)^{64,70}$  and the epidermal growth factor receptor  $(EGF-R)^{63,71}$ , which both are connected to survival signals and modulation of apoptosis regulating genes like bcl-2<sup>72</sup>, bak<sup>73</sup> and A1/BFL1<sup>74</sup>.

Further, WT1 has an ability to inhibit p53-mediated apoptosis, induced by irradiation through binding, stabilization and functional inactivation of the p53 protein<sup>75</sup>. A recent study underscores the anti-apoptotic activities of WT1, since proteolysis of WT1 by the serine protease HtrA2/Omi, mostly found in mitochondria but also a small fraction in the nucleus, generated increased apoptosis<sup>76</sup>.

The finding that ectopic WT1 in leukemic cell lines inhibits apoptosis induced by genotoxic agents<sup>48,72</sup>, as well as our finding in **paper I**, that K562 cells overexpressing WT1 have increased resistance to imatinib induced apoptosis<sup>77</sup> are in agreement with an anti-apoptotic function for WT1. Additional evidence for anti-apoptotic properties include the observations that elimination of WT1 in WT1<sup>-/-</sup> mice or treatment of some cells with WT1 antisense oligonucleotides or WT1 siRNA, leads to enhanced apoptosis<sup>48,78,79</sup>.

There are, however, also indications of a pro-apoptotic function for WT1, since forced expression of WT1 in a number of cell lines as Hep2B, U2OS and Saos-2 contributes to apoptosis<sup>71,80</sup>.

Taken together, available data support the complexity of the role and function of the WT1 protein in the regulation of differentiation, cell division and apoptosis mechanism. Some data support the notion of WT1 as a tumor suppressor, with an ability to rescue cells from transforming events, while other results indicate a role for WT1 as a protein with a potential to keep the cells alive and proliferating, thus increasing the risk of malignant transformation.

#### Target genes of WT1

WT1 is a transcription factor that promotes gene activation or repression depending on cellular and promoter context<sup>81</sup>. WT1 shares extensive homology with the early growth response gene 1 (EGR1) and recognizes the same DNA binding consensus sequence<sup>82,83</sup>. Other identified DNA-binding consensus sequences for WT1 include TC-rich sequences, often found in promoter sequences from growth-related genes, and a 5'-GCGTGGGAGT-3' sequence. The latter is classified as a high affinity-binding site, termed WTE<sup>84</sup>. WT1, mainly the WT1 (-KTS) isoforms are reported to repress or activate a large number of genes. Data are from promoter-reporter assays and/or from studies of endogenous gene transcription levels. The target genes may be classified into 6 groups depending on their function in the cell:

- *Growth factors* as insulin-like growth factor II (IGF-2), erythropoietin and amphiregulin (important for kidney development) are activated<sup>70,85,86</sup> but connected tissue growth factor (CTGF) and platelet-derived growth factor A (PDGF-A) are repressed by WT1<sup>87,88</sup>. Colony-stimulating factor-1 (CSF-1), a multifunctional protein that affects proliferation and differentiation of myeloid progenitors, is also repressed by WT1<sup>89</sup>.
- *Growth factor receptors* as insulin-like growth factor 1 receptor (IGF-I-R), estrogen receptor-A (ERA) and epidermal growth factor receptor (EGF-R) are repressed by WT1<sup>90,91,71</sup>. The erythropoietin receptor is activated by WT1<sup>92</sup>.
- *Cell cycle regulating proteins* as c-myc, p21<sup>CIP1</sup> and retinoblastoma suppressor associated protein 46 (RbAp46) are activated<sup>93,94,67</sup>, but cyclin E and ornithine decarboxylase (ODC) are shown to be repressed by WT1<sup>68,95</sup>.
- *Apoptosis regulating proteins* upregulated by WT1 are the anti-apoptosis regulating bcl-2<sup>72</sup>, c-myc<sup>93,96</sup> and A1/BFL1

proteins<sup>74</sup>, the latter mediates resistance to chemotherapy in high-risk leukemias. The proto-oncogene JunB is also repressed by WT1<sup>97</sup>. The pro-apoptotic regulating protein, Bak, is also upregulated by WT1<sup>73</sup>.

- Proteins important for development as Dax-1, SRY and the • anti-Müllerian hormone receptor 2 (Amhr2)98989898, which are important for sex-determination in mammals and are all activated by WT1<sup>99,100,98</sup>. Sprouty 1, a regulator of a tyrosine kinase receptor and nestin, an intermediate protein, are both involved in kidney development and they are activated by WT1<sup>101,102</sup>. Another target gene, Pou4f2, seems to be activated by WT1 simultaneously during kidney and retina formation<sup>103</sup>. A taurine gene, TauT, also linked to renal development is a direct target gene, activated by WT1<sup>104</sup>. A newly identified target gene, WT1-induced inhibitor of Dishevelled (WID), is co-expressed with WT1 in podocytes in the maturing kidney. Upregulation of WID by WT1 leads to a protein interaction between WID and Dishevelled, which negatively regulates the WNT/ $\beta$ -catenin pathway<sup>105</sup>. WT1 also regulates coronary vessel formation through activation of the TrkB neurotrophin receptor<sup>106</sup>.
- *Other target genes* are the vitamine D receptor (VDR), Ecadherin and Syndecan-1, all transcriptionally activated by WT1<sup>107,108,109</sup> and the last two mentioned genes are involved in epithelial differentiation and tumour invasion. WT1 has been shown to exert repression on human telomerase reverse transcriptase (hTERT)<sup>110</sup> and activation of the podocyte specific proteins, nephrine<sup>111</sup> and podocalyxin<sup>112</sup>.

In conclusion, WT1 mediates transcriptional regulation of various genes involved in divergent processes as growth, cell cycle control, development and apoptosis. Different reports with positive and negative effects of WT1 on target genes may seem conflicting. However, WT1-mediated suppression or activation of target genes is most likely explained by different cellular environment and co-operating oncogenes. Thus, it is possible that expression of each target gene of WT1 may be either positively, or negatively regulated by WT1, depending on cellular context. In **paper II** we report the novel finding of WT1 to exert repression of the myeloid tumor suppressor gene interferon regulatory factor 8 (IRF8)<sup>113</sup> and in **paper III** we show that the WT1 protein acts as a transcriptional activator of the N-myc downstream regulated gene 2, NDRG2<sup>114</sup>.

#### Protein partners of WT1

Several interacting protein partners to WT1 have been identified by use of yeast two-hybrid assays, co-immunoprecipitations or GST pull-down assays. Interactions with the amino terminus, the zinc-finger containing carboxyl terminus or in some cases with both parts of the WT1 protein have been reported (**Table I**). The functional importance of these interactions is in many cases unclear, but it is interesting that WT1 lacking the entire DNA-binding zinc-finger C-terminal part still retains some cellular effects, indicating functions mediated through the N-terminal part of the WT1 protein, independent of DNA-binding<sup>115</sup> and as shown in **paper IV**.

Some of the genes transcriptionally regulated by WT1 express proteins that function as protein partners of WT1 with ability to enhance or prevent the transcriptional activity for WT1 in feed back loops. An example of this is the transcription factor SRY, involved in sex-determination and transcriptionally activated by WT1. The SRY protein is together with the SF-1 (steroidogenic factor 1) protein also an interacting partner with the WT1 protein, controlling the sexual differentiation process<sup>116,117</sup>. Another important protein synergy is the direct interaction between WT1 and the co-activator CREB-binding protein (CBP)<sup>118</sup>, which facilitates and modulates the transactivation of WT1 and may also contribute to the protein interaction/stability between WT1 and the tumor suppressor p53<sup>75,119</sup>.

An example of how protein hetero-complexes may alter the function of the individual proteins in the complex is the trimeric "adenovirus E1B 55K-WT1-p53" protein complex, sequestered in the perinuclear cytoplasmic body and with hindered transactivational abilities of both WT1 and p53<sup>120</sup>.

So far only one protein partner, prostate apoptosis response factor 4 (Par-4) has been identified to interact with the 17 amino acids in the N-terminal part of WT1 (+KTS). Par-4 functions as a transcriptional co-activator when bound to the 17 AA domain of WT1<sup>47</sup>, but it also interacts with the zinc-fingers in the C-terminal part of WT1 leading to decrease of transcriptional activation by WT1<sup>121,122</sup>.

Obviously, the reported opposing effects by WT1 on target genes and cellular functions may result from the presence of distinct protein partners in various cellular contexts.

Interacting protein	WT1 interacting domain	Function/ consequences
BASP1	residues 71-101, SD	transcriptional
		co-suppressor
HtrA2	residues 71-101, SD	serine protease/apoptosis- dependent cleavage of WT1
hUBC9	85-179 aa	SUMO-1 E2-conjugating enzyme/SUMOylation of WT1
Hsp70	1-180 aa	decreased proliferation
PAX2	1-466 aa	joint co-expression in renal development/unknown
STAT3	1-281 (TAD)	promotes cell proliferation
SF1	N-terminus	co-activates MIS expression with WT1 (-KTS)/regulation of sexual differentiation
WT1	1-180 aa	WT1 protein self-association /dominant negative effect with WT1 mutations?
Par-4	+17 AA Zn-fingers	involved in apoptosis/co- activator with WT1 (+17AA) and lowered transcriptional activity with Zn-finger interaction
BMZF2	Zn-fingers	TF regulating expression in fetal tissues/represses WT1 activation
СВР	Zn-fingers	transcriptional cofactor/enhances WT1 transcriptional activity
Ciao 1	Zn-fingers	WD40 protein /inhibition of WT1 transactivation, no influence on WT1 repression

 Table I. A selection of protein partners for WT1

Interacting protein	WT1 interacting domain	Function/ consequences
E1B55K	Zn-fingers	adenovirus protein/WT1 induced cell death is prohibited
HCMV-1E2	Zn-fingers	human cytomegalo virus protein/WT1 inhibits 1E2 transactivation ability
p53	Zn-fingers	tumor suppressor/p53 stabilization and inhibited apoptosis, inhibited WT1 activation
p73	Zn-fingers	cell cycle regulator, involved in apoptosis/inhibited transcriptional activity for p73 and WT1 (no DNA-binding)
SRY	Zn-fingers	regulator of sexdetermination/synergistic transcriptional activation
U2AF65	Zn-fingers	splicing factor/WT1 (+KTS) a component in pre-mRNA splicing
WTAP	Zn-fingers	Undetermined/WT1-interacting protein with unknown significance

Abbreviations and references used but not clarified in Table I: BASP1<sup>123</sup> - Brain acid soluble protein 1, HtrA2<sup>76</sup> – High temperature requirement protein A2, hUBC9<sup>26,28</sup> – human Ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme 9, Hsp 70<sup>124</sup> – Heat shock protein 70, PAX2<sup>125</sup> – Paired box 2, STAT3<sup>126</sup> – Signal transducer and activator of transcription 3, SF1<sup>117</sup> - Steroidogenic factor 1, WT1<sup>127</sup> – Wilms' tumour gene 1, Par-4<sup>47,122</sup> – Prostate apoptosis response factor 4, BMZF2<sup>128</sup> – Bone marrow zinc finger 2, CBP<sup>118</sup> – CREB binding protein, Ciao 1<sup>129</sup>- Cytosolic iron-sulfur protein assembly 1 homolog, E1B55K<sup>120</sup>, HCMV-1E2<sup>130</sup>, p53<sup>75,119</sup>, p73<sup>131</sup>, SRY<sup>116</sup> - Sex-determining region of the Y chromosome, U2AF65<sup>132</sup>, WTAP<sup>133</sup> – WT1 associating protein.

#### WT1- an oncogene?

Taken together, WT1 is a transcription factor with a multitude of isoforms, which some are evolutionary conserved, like the WT1 (+KTS) and (-KTS) isoforms, while the splice isoforms with exon 5, WT1 (+ 17AA) is mammal

specific. WT1 expression increases and declines during development of a wide range of tissues, first studied in the kidney formation (reviewed in Reddy and Licht, 1996)<sup>3</sup>. Transcription factors linked to urogenital-, retina- and coronary vessel formations are transcriptionally regulated by WT1, further indicating a role for WT1 in normal development, but what role may WT1 have in carcinogenesis?

WT1 has been shown to regulate the cell cycle; introduction of cell cycle block in the S-phase through inhibition of the activity of cyclin/CDK complexes<sup>66</sup> and activation of p21<sup>CIP1 67</sup>, but also to enhance cell cycle progression in breast carcinoma cells, where high WT1 levels was induced by the HER2/neu oncogene<sup>69</sup>. Furthermore, down-modulation of WT1 was required for proliferative arrest and subsequent differentiation in breast cancer cells treated with progestins (synthetic analog of progesterone) with reduction of S-phase and cyclin D expression, while overexpression of WT1 in the cancer cells partly attenuated the progestin-mediated growth arrest<sup>134</sup>. These data may indicate that high levels of WT1 in breast cancer cell lines contribute to the pro-proliferative effect, and consequently suggest WT1 as a potential breast cancer oncogene.

STAT3, one of the protein partners for WT1 has impact on cell proliferation. WT1 enhanced activated STAT3 transcriptional activity through proteininteraction in cell lines, which was confirmed in primary Wilms' tumours<sup>126</sup>. The accelerated cell proliferation may contribute to tumourigenesis.

WT1 also exerts transcriptional regulation of growth factors (IGF-2, erythropoietin, amphiregulin, PDGF-A, CTGF, CSF-1) and growth factor receptors (IGF-1-R, EGFR) affecting cellular proliferation and differentiation. Inhibited apoptosis via activation of the WT1 target genes bcl-2, c-myc, JunB and A1/BFL1, and through p53 stabilization inactivation in the WT1/p53-protein complex, implies WT1-regulated cell survival.

Therefore, although WT1 was originally defined as a tumour suppressor gene in Wilms' tumour, WT1 may also positively affect carcinogenesis. This is supported by the accumulation of reports of adult cancers expressing high amounts of WT1, mainly in the cytoplasm. WT1 is found in tumour cells from a wide range of cancers, including renal cell carcinoma<sup>135</sup>, malignant melanoma<sup>136</sup>, ovarian cancer<sup>137</sup>, breast cancer<sup>138</sup>, lung cancer<sup>139</sup>, mesothelioma<sup>140</sup>, desmoid tumors<sup>141</sup>, brain tumors<sup>142</sup> and also in leukemia<sup>143,144</sup>. High levels of WT1 in these tissues, normally not expressing WT1, indicate an oncogene function. The altered cellular localization for WT1, from nucleus to cytoplasm, may reflect the oncogene potential. Promising results are achieved in patients

suffering from lung-, breast cancer or leukemia, when treated with WT1-specific cytotoxic T-cells, indicating WT1 as a tumour-specific target<sup>145</sup>. Importantly, mutations in the WT1 gene are rarely detected, arguing against loss of tumour suppressor function of WT1 in cancer.

#### Hematopoiesis

Hematopoiesis is the process of production of all blood cell, originating from a few hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs), which occurs in the bone marrow (BM) (reviewed in Zhu and Emerson, 2002; Kondo *et al.*, 2003)<sup>146,147</sup>. The HSCs with multipotent and "self-renewing" capacity, important for maintenance of the stem cell pool, yield committed progenitor cells through symmetric or asymmetric divisions. The important choice between self-renewal and differentiation of the slow cycling HSCs is controlled by both intrinsic and extrinsic regulation in the bone marrow microenvironment. Under normal conditions, the pool of HSC must remain roughly the same, with self-renewing in about half of the HSC divisions.

The genes that promote HSC self-renewal are to a large extent unexplored, but developmental regulators as Wnts<sup>148</sup>, Notch<sup>149,150</sup> and Sonic hedgehog (Shh)<sup>151</sup> have been shown to promote expansion of HSCs *in vitro*. Interestingly, WT1 has been reported to affect Wnt-signalling, but the relevance of this remains to be shown<sup>152,153</sup>.

The complex regulation of gene transcription throughout hematopoiesis is dependent on co-operation of transcription factors, cytokines and the microenvironment, the location of the HSCs (reviewed in Sigvardsson, 2009; Eliasson and Jönsson, 2010)<sup>154,155</sup>. Committed progenitor cells are directed to differentiate along the hematopoietic differentiation program to common myeloid progenitors (CMPs), further differentiating to granulocyte/monocyte progenitors (GMPs) or megakaryocyte/eryhrocyte progenitors (MEPs) or the other main branch, the common lymphoid progenitors (CLPs). The CLPs generates T- and B-lymphocytes, whereas GMPs differentiate into neutrophils, basophils, eosinophils and monocytes/macrophages and MEPs give rise to erythrocytes and megakaryocytes/thrombocytes (fig 3).

Co-expression of GATA-1 and PU.1 directs HSCs to CMPs and elevated PU.1 levels lead to GMPs, whilst, dominant GATA-1 expression leads to differentiation of MEPs to erythrocytes and megakarycytes. Excessed expression of PU.1 is required for differentiation to CLPs and differentiation to monocytes is induced by interaction of the myeloid transcription factor, IRF8,

and PU.1 (fig 3). IRF8 potentiates macrophage differentiation of myeloid progenitor cells and inhibits granulocytic differentiation<sup>156</sup>.



*Figure 3. A simplified picture of hematopoiesis.* HSCs with "self-renewing" and multipotent capacity are the origin of all differentiated blood cells. Key hematopoietic transcription factors relevant for the development of the lineages are indicated. Abbreviations used: HSC-hematopoietic stem cell, CMP-common myeloid progenitor, CLP-common lymphoid progenitor, MEP-megakaryocyte/eryhrocyte progenitor, GMP- granulocyte/monocyte progenitor. (Modified from Zhu and Emerson, 2002)<sup>146</sup>.

#### WT1 and hematopoiesis

#### WT1 in hematopoiesis

In human hematopoiesis few of the multipotent progenitor cells (1.2%) with equal distribution CD34<sup>+</sup> CD38<sup>+</sup>/CD34<sup>+</sup> CD38<sup>-</sup>) in the bone marrow express WT1 and during differentiation the expression is rapidly down modulated<sup>58-61</sup>. highest WT1 levels In а murine model, the were detected in (MEPs)<sup>157</sup>. progenitors megakaryocyte/erythrocyte In the terminally differentiated blood cells, WT1 seems to be below detection limit, although one paper report WT1 mRNA expression in monocytes, granulocytes and Blymphocytes<sup>62</sup>.

WT1 is not essential for reconstitution of hematopoiesis, at least not in mice<sup>158</sup>, since embryonal stem cells (ES) devoid of WT1 can give rise to all types of mature blood cells. Neither was WT1 detected in long-term hematopoietic stem cells (LT-HSC) and in less than 1% of the multipotent progenitor cell in a transgenic mouse model with a GFP-knock-in allele, WT1<sup>GFP/+</sup>, at the WT1 gene locus<sup>157</sup>.

However, even though WT1 does not seem to be a prerequisite for hematopoiesis, an impact of WT1 is nevertheless evident, since murine WT1<sup>-/-</sup> ES compete poorly with normal ES in a competitive reconstitution assay<sup>159</sup>. In addition, increased numbers of BFU-E, CFU-GM and CFU-GEMM in the bone marrow cells overexpressing WT1 point to a positive impact on progenitor cell expansion mediated by WT1 in these cells<sup>160</sup>.

In human hematopoietic CD34<sup>+</sup> progenitor cells forced expression of WT1 lead to inhibited proliferation<sup>65,115</sup>, also confirmed in **paper IV**, but no alteration in cell cycle phase distribution was observed<sup>65</sup>. The effect of ectopic WT1 expression in differentiating human CD34<sup>+</sup> cells appears to be stage-specific; while quiescence is enhanced in primitive cells, cellular differentiation in lineage-committed precursors into the myeloid-monocytic hematopoietic lineage is stimulated<sup>62,65</sup>.

Taken together, available data indicate that WT1 is not critical for hematopoiesis, but that WT1 nevertheless may influence the proliferation, viability and/or differentiation of hematopoietic cells.

#### WT1 expression in primary leukemia

In leukemic cells the normal maturation is stalled through a differentiation block, which gives raise to clonal expansion of immature leukemic blasts accumulating in bone marrow and blood. This leads to suppression of normal hematopoiesis.

WT1 is highly expressed in acute myeloid leukemia (AML) and acute lymphoid leukemia (ALL), in myelodysplastic syndromes (MDS), chronic myeloid leukemia in blast crisis and in leukemic cell lines<sup>161</sup>. Eighty percent of the lymphoid leukemias and 90% of the myeloid leukemias, both adult- and childhood, have elevated WT1 expression<sup>143,144</sup>. The majority of AML patients express WT1 at diagnosis with frequencies varying from 73-93%<sup>162</sup> with a significant dominance of the WT1 (+17AA) isoform<sup>163</sup> and increased amount of WT1 at relapse. When combining four different studies, 66% of ALL cases

expressed WT1 at diagnosis<sup>164</sup>, while the prevalence of WT1 in the subgroup adult acute T-lymphoblast leukemia was even lower, approximately 55%<sup>165</sup>.

Some reports show no significant correlation between WT1 expression and different myeloid leukemia FAB subtypes<sup>163</sup>, while there are other reports indicating higher WT1 expression in M3 AML<sup>166</sup>, harbouring the PML/RAR $\alpha$  fusion protein, and less WT1 transcripts in M5 AML<sup>166-168</sup>. Depending on analysis method, the WT1 expression in leukemic blast cells have been quantified to be similar<sup>61,169</sup> or more than ten times as high as detected in the WT1 expressing CD34<sup>+</sup> progenitor cells<sup>170</sup>.

Thus, a majority of leukemias express high levels of WT1 with no strong correlation to phenotype, suggesting that WT1 may positively affect proliferation and/or viability of the leukemic cells, rather than interfere with specific differentiation mechanisms.

#### Expression levels of WT1 correlate to poor clinical prognosis

In acute leukemias increased WT1 levels have prognostic significance and are associated to poor prognosis<sup>143,171,172</sup>. In adult MDS and AML, WT1 mRNA levels in bone marrow at diagnosis may be used as a predictor of clinical outcome, since several studies show a positive correlation between high WT1 expression and a worse long-term outcome<sup>167,173,174</sup>, although not confirmed in all studies<sup>175</sup>. In pediatric ALL the prevalence of WT1 overexpression is lower than in AML or in adult AML and ALL. In fact, in childhood ALL the WT1 expression levels are very variable and both abnormally high and very low WT1 expression is associated with increased risk of relapse<sup>176</sup>.

During and after treatment, quantification of WT1 mRNA in peripheral blood (PB) is used as a measurement of minimal residual disease (MRD) in myeloid leukemias and in myelodysplastic syndrome<sup>177-180</sup>. Persistent high WT1 level is regarded as a prognostic predictor of poor outcome with a significant lower complete remission rate and worse overall survival<sup>167,181</sup>.

Moreover, WT1 levels rise as progression occurs in acute leukemias and myelodysplastic syndromes and at relapse of the disease after clinical remission<sup>181-184</sup>. Altogether, the positive correlation between WT1 expression and poor clinical outcome further support the notion of WT1 as an oncogene in leukemia.

#### Immunotheraphy targeting of WT1

Higher titer of WT1 antibodies was detected in sera from patients suffering from AML, ALL, CML and MDS, as compared to control samples, which suggests an immune response with elevated WT1 as antigen<sup>185</sup>. Promising results with regression of the leukemic disease have been obtained in human vaccine trials in AML patients. WT1 peptides was used to generate CD8<sup>+</sup> cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTLs) targeting the elevated WT1 protein<sup>145,186,187</sup>. The use of autologous T-cells response directed against the "self"-leukemia antigen, in this case WT1, resembles the graft-versus-leukemia (GVL) effect, which is the purpose of the therapeutic WT1 vaccines<sup>161</sup>.

#### Effects of WT1-modulation in leukemic cell lines and animal models

Down-regulation of WT1 gene expression in leukemic cell lines induces apoptosis<sup>78,188,189</sup>, indicating that WT1 is important for viability of leukemic cells. Moreover, constitutive expression of WT1 inhibits apoptosis in K562 leukemic cell line treated with etoposide and doxorubicin<sup>48</sup> (apoptosis inducing agents), further supporting that WT1 may antagonize cell death. Our own demonstration that WT1 confers resistance to imatinib in K562 cells (**paper I**) is consistent with this notion.

32D cl 3 cells, an IL-3 dependent murine myeloid cell line, ceased to differentiate in response to G-CSF administration when overexpressing WT1 and continued to proliferate due to constitutively active STAT3<sup>190</sup>. Also, WT1 negative monoblastic U937 cells had impaired differentiation responses to all*trans*-retinoic acid (ATRA) and vitamin D3, when overexpressing WT1<sup>191</sup>, which suggests a WT1-induced phenotype resembling the differentiation block found in acute leukemia. The level of WT1 mRNA rapidly declined when K562, HL60 and NB4 cells were induced to differentiate in culture, independent on differentiation pathway<sup>192-195</sup>. This suggests that down-modulation of WT1 is a prerequisite for differentiation of leukemic cells.

In transgenic mice co-operation of WT1 and AML1-ETO protein (fusion protein, common in human AML) rapidly induces an acute myeloid leukemia, while induction with AML-ETO alone only generates a disturbed myelopoiesis<sup>160</sup>. A myeloproliferative-like disease develops in mice induced with WT1 alone<sup>160</sup>. This suggests that overexpression of WT1 together with other oncogenic events may play a co-operative role in leukemogenesis.

Murine bone marrow cells cells with induced constitutive expression of WT1 (+17 AA/+KTS) have inhibited differentiation and enhanced proliferation of myeloid progenitor cells in response to G-CSF<sup>196</sup>, indicating an alteration of this pathway in these cells, supporting the oncogenic role mediated by WT1 in hematopoietic cells.

Thus, a large amount of clinical and preclinical data indicate that WT1 functions like an oncogene in leukemogenesis, but the molecular mechanisms contributing to the elevated WT1 levels in leukemia and how WT1 perturbs normal cellular regulation are still to a large extent unknown.



Figure 4. A Western blot showing screening of WT1 protein levels in different leukemic cell lines: HL60 (human promyelocytic leukemia), NB4 (APL, M3 AML, with PML/RAR $\alpha$ ), KG-1 (human FAB-M7), HEL (human erythroleukemia), K562 (human erythroid blast crisis of CML, with BCR/ABL1) and U937 (human monoblastic cells). All cell lines with exception of U937 express the WT1 protein in various amounts. Detection of GAPDH protein is used as equal loading control. Antibodies used in the analysis; WT1(C-19), sc-192 and GAPDH (6C5), sc-32233, both from Santa Cruz Biotechnology.

#### WT1 mutations in leukemia

Not only high WT1 expression, but also mutations in the WT1 gene are found in leukemias. The first report of WT1 mutations, associated with development of AML, was published more than fifteen years ago by King-Underwood and co-workers<sup>197</sup>. They found WT1 mutations in 15% of AML cases and in one biphenotypic leukemia and also noted that the patients with WT1 mutations were more refractory to chemotheraphy with worse disease-free and overall survival rate<sup>198</sup>.

Since then there is a growing amount of data on WT1 mutations detected in various leukemias. Large cohorts of cytogenetically normal (CN) AML cases confirm the frequency of about 10% mutated WT1 in adult AML<sup>199-201</sup>. WT1

mutations are in general not found in conjunction with cytogenetic abnormalities such as t(15;17)(q22;q12), t(8;21)(q22;q22), inv(16)(p13q22) or  $t(16;16)(p13;q22)^{202}$ , which have a relatively good prognosis. Other molecular markers with established prognostic significance, as mutations in NPM1 (nucleophosmin 1), CEBP $\alpha$  and MLL (myeloid/lymphoid or mixed-lineage leukemia) more or less frequently coincide with WT1 mutations<sup>200</sup>, but so far the synergistic impact is not thoroughly investigated.

Analysis of almost 2500 patients provide evidence of aggressive forms of the AML disease with increased risk of relapse and death associated with WT1 mutation (reviewed in Owen *et al.*, 2010)<sup>162</sup>. WT1 mutations in adult CN-AML appears as an independent unfavourable prognostic predictor, regarding inferior cytogenetic remission rate and higher frequency of resistance to chemotherapy.

In 58% of CN-AML patients, WT1 mutations and FLT3 with internal tandem duplication (FLT3-ITD) was concurrent with a possible worse clinical outcome<sup>162,203</sup>. In all childhood AML 12% harbour WT1 mutations, but the incidence in pediatric CN-AML is as high as 22%<sup>204</sup>, with elevated expression levels of mutated WT1 as compared to wild-type cases<sup>205</sup>.

WT1 mutations found in AML are mostly heterozygous, with a remaining WT1 wild-type allele. They are missense mutations, deletions and insertions, resulting in truncated WT1 protein<sup>201,204</sup> with loss of DNA-binding. The mutational "hotspots" are in exon 7 and 9, but rare mutations are also reported in exon 1, 2, 3 and 8<sup>198,203,204</sup>. Frameshift mutations in exon 7 are the most predominant<sup>162</sup> (fig 5). They generate a truncated WT1 protein lacking the four DNA-binding zinc-fingers and with loss of the nuclear localization signal (NLS). These WT1-mutants have been suggested to function in a dominant-negative way, if sequestrated in the cytoplasm with remained self-association domains leading to retention of the wild-type WT1 in the cytoplasm. Sequestration of wild-type WT1 in cytoplasm by truncated WT1 could however not be confirmed, at least not in 293T/17 cells<sup>115</sup>. Heterozygous mutations could also lead to haploinsufficiency of WT1 function.

Other recurrent type of mutations in AML is point mutations in exon 9, conferring amino acid substitutions at similar positions as in Denys Drash syndrome (DDS)<sup>116</sup>, where the substitutions confer impaired DNA-binding. Frameshift mutations are less frequent than the point mutations in exon 9. These may lead to a WT1 protein deficient of zinc-finger 3 and 4.

The few reported homozygous WT1 mutations in AML are biallelic, through loss of heterozygosity due to somatic aquired uniparental disomy<sup>206</sup>, leading to removal of the remaining wild-type allele.

The incidence of WT1 mutations in T-ALL is 12% in adult and 13% in pediatric cases at diagnosis. Most of the detected T-ALL mutations are similar to those observed in AML, resulting in truncation of the zinc-finger domain of WT1. In adult- and childhood T-ALL WT1 mutations do not confer adverse prognosis<sup>207</sup>. Regarding WT1 mutations in pediatric B-ALL, no data are available in the literature.

Taken together, haploinsufficency of WT1 as a result of WT1 mutations contributing to leukemic disease may seem in consistency with WT1 as a tumour suppressor. But, the high wild-type WT1 levels at diagnosis in most leukemias used as an independent prognostic factor for poor outcome, rather support an oncogenic function mediated by WT1. Furthermore, cell line and animal models strongly indicate an oncogenic property of wild-type WT1 in leukemia. If WT1 then is an oncogene, mutated WT1 may therefore show gain-of-function, being more oncogenic as compared with wild-type WT1. The coexistence of WT1-mutants and FLT3-ITD in CN-AML patients may possibly indicate a synergistic effect in leukemogenesis.

In **paper IV**, we show that ectopic expression of the WT1-mutant, WT1(delZ), devoid of zinc-fingers confers enhanced and prolonged proliferation of CD34<sup>+</sup> cells and induces erythroid differentiation. This may indicate new oncogenic properties through altered cell signalling cascades mediated through the WT1-mutant, regardless of DNA-binding.



Figure 5. A simplistic picture of the two main types of WT1 mutations found in leukemia (not drawn to scale). The type I mutations cluster in exon 7 and are frameshift mutations introducing a premature termination codon (PTC) which generates truncated WT1 protein lacking the four zinc-fingers and as a consequence loss of DNA-binding capacity. Type II mutations affecting exon nine are most frequently point mutations resulting in amino acid substitutions leading to impaired/changed DNA-binding. RD-repression domain, AD-activation domain.

#### THE PRESENT INVESTIGATION

#### AIM

The aim of this thesis has been to increase the understanding of the molecular mechanisms by which WT1 can be involved in normal hematopoiesis and leukemogenesis.

#### **RESULTS AND GENERAL DISCUSSION**

#### WT1 functions as an oncogene in leukemia

High WT1 levels detected at diagnosis in adult AML and MDS are associated with a poor clinical outcome and may be used as a prognostic predictor. Remaining excessive WT1 transcripts during and after treatment of the patients, increased levels at relapse and raised WT1 levels during disease progression indicate an impact on differentiation, proliferation and/or cell survival mediated by WT1 (reviewed in Owen *et al.*, 2009; Algar, 2002)<sup>162,208</sup>.

A negative effect of WT1 on differentiation is indicated also by results from leukemic cell line models, in which WT1 transcripts rapidly decrease during induced differentiation<sup>193-195</sup>. Moreover, forced WT1 expression in leukemic cell lines can inhibit the differentiation response<sup>134,191,192</sup>.

The pro-survival function of WT1 is confirmed by data from leukemic cell lines, in which down-modulation of WT1 leads to apoptosis<sup>48,78,79</sup>. Whereas, constitutive overexpression of WT1 in the leukemic K562 cell line confers resistance to etoposide and doxorubicin induced apoptosis<sup>48</sup> and also to increased resistence to imatinib induced cell death, as shown by us in **paper I**. A number of anti-apoptotic genes; bcl-2, c-myc, JunB and A1/BFL1 have been reported as target genes for WT1<sup>72,93,96,97,74</sup>. Among these we could not detect any effects on bcl-2 (**paper I**). Among other apoptosis-related genes associated to imatinib-resistance, we could also not detect any effect on pro-apoptotic Bim, anti-apoptotic bcl-X<sub>L</sub> (a bcl-2 homologue) or Survivin by WT1 (unpublished). The mechanism, by which WT1 confers resistance to imatinib, therefore remains unclear.

Murine BM cells lacking WT1 fail to compete with normal BM cells in a competitive repopulation transplantation assay. Furthermore, in a transgenic mouse model, WT1 transduced BM transplanted to mice generates a myeloproliferative disease. Both observations support the notion of positive effects on proliferation. Mice recieving a transplant of AML1-ETO transduced BM alone show abnormal myelopoiesis, with undifferentiated myeloid cells, but no leukemia. WT1 in conjunction with AML1-ETO, however, rapidly induces an AML-like disease, when co-expressed in the transgenic mice<sup>160</sup>, further demonstrating the oncogenic potential for WT1 *in vivo*.

Put together, a growing amount of experimental data argue for that WT1 can influence differentiation, apoptosis and proliferation in leukemic cells and thus that WT1 has an effector role in leukemogenesis.

#### Molecular mechanisms for overexpression of WT1 in leukemia

As aforementioned, cancers of various kinds as kidney cancer<sup>135</sup>, skin cancer<sup>136</sup>, ovarian cancer<sup>137</sup>, breast cancer<sup>138</sup>, mesothelioma<sup>140</sup>, desmoid tumors<sup>141</sup>, lung cancer<sup>139</sup> and brain tumors<sup>142</sup> overexpress wild-type WT1. Also a variety of hematological malignancies as AML, ALL, MDS and CML at blast crisis show high levels of unmutated WT1 at diagnosis, with increasing levels when transition to a more aggressive leukemic disease occurs (reviewed in Miwa *et al.*, 1992; Miyagi *et al.*, 1993)<sup>143,144</sup>. This suggests an important role for WT1 in

carcinogenesis and leukemogenesis. The overexpression of WT1 in cancer and leukemia occurs at transcriptional level. Consistently, reduced mRNA level through WT1-target specific antisense oligomers or siRNAs confers growth inhibition and may induce apoptosis, both in cell lines and in primary leukemic samples<sup>48,78,79</sup>.

What is the molecular mechanism behind overexpression of WT1 mRNA in leukemia? The mechanisms regulating transcription of WT1 to restricted organs are yet quite unknown. Regulation of transcription from the WT1 gene is complex: a proximal promoter lacking tissue specificity and tissue-specific enhancer elements control it. During kidney formation endogenous WT1-antisense expression and a transcriptional silencer, restrict promoter activity to nephronal cells<sup>16,18,23-25</sup>. Pea3, PAX2, PAX8, Sp1 and WT1 itself are all identified transcription factors mainly linked to development in the fetal kidney<sup>15-19,125</sup>.

The large numbers of different leukemias overexpressing WT1, however, indicate a common mechanism, driving transcription of the WT1 gene in these cells. GATA-1 and the proto-oncoprotein c-Myb have been shown to transactivate a myeloid associated enhancer element in the WT1 gene in *in vitro* studies<sup>11</sup> and in AML a correlation between increased PAX2 and WT1 transcripts have been reported<sup>12</sup>, with a possible PAX2 activation of the WT1 gene.

Cilloni and collegues reported that inhibition of BCR/ABL1 tyrosine kinase activity generated lowered amounts of WT1 transcripts in Philadelphia chromosome (Ph) positive cell lines and CML patient samples<sup>209</sup>. A correlation between BCR/ABL1 activity and WT1 was confirmed in another study<sup>210</sup>, although one recent report showed low overall correlation of WT1 and BCR/ABL1 transcripts in primary leukemias<sup>211</sup>.

Ph-positive cells harbour the translocation between the ABL1 gene on chromosome 9 and the BCR (breakpoint cluster) gene on chromosome 22, t(9;22)(q34;q11). Depending on the breakpoint in the BCR-gene, the translocation results in a fusion protein (BCR/ABL1) of 210 kDa detected in 90% of CMLs or a protein of 190 kDa, restricted to Ph-positive ALLs (reviewed in Wong and Witte, 2004)<sup>212</sup>. In BCR/ABL1 the ABL tyrosine kinase is constitutively active and mediates oncogenic signalling. BCR/ABL1 can promote cell proliferation and survival via SHP2 affecting RAS/ERK (which may also be activated by BCR phosphorylation) and phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K)-Akt cell signalling pathways. The activated pathways lead to

activation of downstream targets as JAK/STATs, Cyclin D, c-myc and NF $\kappa$ B (reviewed in Sattler and Salgia, 1997; Ren, 2005)<sup>213,214</sup>. Further, we have shown that forced expression of BCR/ABL1 kinase in human progenitor cells represses IRF8 transcription (**paper II**), via a hitherto unknown mechanism, as discussed below.

Imatinib mesylate (imatinib) is a potent inhibitor of the ABL kinase activity in the BCR/ABL1 fusion protein. Imatinib binds to an ATP-site in the activation domain of the kinase, inhibiting target substrate binding and further activation. More than 80% of the CML patients achieve a complete cytogenetic response when treated with imatinib in the chronic phase of the CML<sup>213</sup>. Excessive WT1 levels are not reported in the chronic phase. However, with time progression often occurs from the chronic phase of the CML into blast crisis, and as earlier mentioned, this progression of the disease is correlated to raised WT1 expression levels.

The finding that BCR/ABL1 tyrosine kinase confers raised WT1 levels made us investigate possible involved pathways. In **paper I**, we confirmed the down-modulation of WT1 expression as a result of imatinib treatment in CML cell lines. Through inactivation of potential target proteins in cell signalling cascades downstream BCR/ABL1 tyrosine kinase, we identified the PI3K/Akt pathway as a main mediator of WT1 transcription. PI3K is a heterodimer consisting of a p85 regulatory and a p110 catalytic subunit. The p110 interacts with protein tyrosine kinases and tyrosine-phosphorylated proteins. We also found that the regulation of WT1 through PI3K/Akt pathway occurs at the transcriptional level and is not due to alteration in mRNA stability mediated by PI3K. Transduction of human progenitor cells with ectopic expression of BCR/ABL1 induced raised WT1 mRNA and protein, further confirming the link between BCR/ABL1 and WT1.

Thus, tyrosine kinase signalling from BCR/ABL1 via PI3K/Akt pathway is an obvious mechanism responsible for WT1 overexpression in CML. However, BCR/ABL1 only exists in CML and other mechanisms therefore must be operation in other forms of leukemia. Could it be that several distinct tyrosine kinases serve as the general activating mechanism of WT1 transcription in leukemia?

Her2/neu (erbB2) oncogene is a transmembrane glycoprotein with intrinsic tyrosine kinase activity that have been proven to enhance the expression of WT1 in breast cancer cells through Akt activation<sup>69</sup>. Akt phosphorylation leads to increased proliferation and anti-apoptosis, possibly through WT1
transcriptional activation of cyclin D and bcl-2. Although not in leukemic cells, these observations support the notion of oncogenic tyrosine kinase signalling as a general mechanism for WT1 overexpression.

Also, as aforementioned, FLT3-ITD and WT1 mutations coincide in a subset of CN-AMLs (58%) and this may indicate a synergistic oncogenic potential in leukemic cells. Is there a correlation also between wild-type WT1 and FLT3-ITD? The constitutively active tyrosine kinase of FLT3-ITD is present in a large fraction of AML and this led us to investigate if FLT3-ITD tyrosine kinase activity also affects WT1 levels in leukemic cells.

FLT3 (Fms-like tyrosine kinase 3) is a cytokine receptor, which is expressed at 70-100% in AML and to a lesser extent in ALL. The FLT3-ITD oncogene with its constitutively activating internal tandem duplication mutation of the receptor tyrosine kinase confers an unfavourable prognosis in AML. The prevalence of FLT3-ITD in AML is around 20%, and the other main mutation found in FLT3, the D835 mutation also conferring constitutive activity, is found in 7% of the patients. FLT3-ITD is suggested to be involved in the pathogenesis of AML, possibly promoting survival through phosphorylation of BAD. The FLT3-ITD-receptor is activated via dimerization and it potentiates the MEK/ERK and PI3K/Akt pathway (reviewed in Gilliland and Griffin, 2002; Meshinchi and Appelbaum, 2009)<sup>215,216</sup>.

We used the FLT3-ITD expressing MV4-11 cell line (AML) as an experimental model for leukemic cells dependent on the constitutive tyrosine kinase activity and HL60 cells as negative control cells expressing FLT3 wild-type. The FLT3 inhibitor Tyrphostin AG1296 (6,7-Dimethoxy-3-phenylquinoxaline) was used to inhibit the tyrosine kinase of the FLT3-ITD mutation. Initial control experiments were performed to evaluate the potency of the AG1296 compound and to control the used cell lines, regarding responsiveness to the kinase inhibitor and toxicity. AG1296 is not entirely specific for the FLT3 ligand receptor, but also inhibits the PDGF receptor and stem cell factor receptor (c-kit), which is important to notice.

We found that inhibition of FLT3-ITD activity in MV4-11 cells results in reduced levels of WT1 mRNA and protein, but not in control cells (HL60 cells) (unpublished data, Fig 6). This suggests that FLT3-ITD tyrosine kinase activity drives transcriptional activation of WT1 in leukemic cells. To evaluate the importance of WT1 expression for the leukemic phenotype, we generated MV4-11 cells with forced WT1 expression. Interestingly, these cells were more resistant to AG1296 induced anti-proliferative effects, as compared to MV4-11

control cells (unpublished data, Table II). Viability was always above 90%, indicating that toxic effects of the kinase inhibitor were not present in this cellular model. The results indicate that oncogenic FLT3-ITD drives overexpression of WT1 in leukemic cells, and that WT1 contributes to the leukemic phenotype, in a manner similar to what is observed with BCR/ABL1 positive cells (**paper I**).

In **paper I** we analysed transcription from the WT1 gene using K562 cells transfected with WT1 promoter reporter constructs, with the WT1 promoter alone or in conjunction with the hematopoietic-specific 3' enhancer (erythroid) and/or intron 3 enhancer (myeloid) elements. The reporters were activated by BCR/ABL1-PI3K/Akt signalling, as judged by inhibition of promoter activity by a PI3K inhibitor. Inhibition was most prominent in the presence of enhancer elements. GATA-1 sites are present in both enhancer sequences, suggesting GATA-1 as a possible transacting factor responsible for the elevated WT1 levels in the BCR/ABL1, PI3K/Akt cell signalling axis.

In line with this hypothesis, GATA-1, an essential transcription factor for erythropoiesis, is phosphorylated and activated via the PI3K/Akt pathway. Post-translational modification of GATA-1, phosphorylation via the PI3K/Akt signalling pathway, promoted GATA-1 transcriptional activity in erythroid cell maturation in co-operation with activated Akt<sup>217</sup>. In **paper I** the WT1 mRNA levels induced in progenitor cells with forced BCR/ABL1 expression did not correlate to the GATA-1 levels, which continued to raise when the WT1 transcripts were declining. Further, no correlation between GATA-1 mRNA and WT1 mRNA are found in studies of AML cases with high WT1 levels<sup>12,166</sup>, nor in MDS or ALL<sup>166</sup>. This might indicate that post-transcriptional regulation of GATA-1 is important for WT1 expression, but the precise role of GATA-1 in WT1 expression in leukemic cells remains to be determined.

In conclusion, tyrosine kinase activity of BCR/ABL1 in CML, FLT3-ITD in AML and Her2/neu in breast cancers and possibly other tyrosine kinases in several forms of tumours, may be one of the common upstream regulatory molecular mechanisms for increased WT1 levels in neoplasms. Transcription factors as GATA-1, c-myb and PAX2 have been suggested to be mediators of transactivation of the WT1 promoter. However, given their tissue-specific expression, they are unlikely the overall mechanism for WT1 expression in all malignant cells. Therefore, other transcription factors driving WT1 expression in malignant cells probably remain to be identified.



Figure 6. WT1 mRNA levels are decreased after 6 hours induction with the FLT3 inhibitor Tyrphostin AG1296 (6,7-Dimethoxy-3-phenylquinoxaline) in FLT3-ITD positive MV4-11 cells but not in HL60 control cells. Various concentrations; 1  $\mu$ M, 5  $\mu$ M and 10 $\mu$ M of AG1296 was used on the MV4-11 (FLT3-ITD) and HL60 (FLT3 wt) cells and real-time qPCR analysis was performed in triplicates. GAPDH mRNA values were used as calibrator. Relative values are shown, mean value±SEM.

Table II.

	Rel. Proliferation (Cell titer assay)	Proliferation (Total number of cells)	Viability (Trypan blue exclusion)
MV4-11/MIG Control	100%	1.40 x 10 <sup>6</sup> /ml	95%
<b>MV4-11/MIG</b> 10 μM AG1296	84%	0.75 x 10 <sup>6</sup> /ml	92%
MV4-11/WT1 Control	100%	1.30 x 10 <sup>6</sup> /ml	90%
<b>MV4-11/WT1</b> 10 μM AG1296	106%	1.25 x 10 <sup>6</sup> /ml	91%

Table II. MV4-11 cells overexpressing WT1 were cultured with or without 10  $\mu$ M AG1296 for 48 hours after which determination of the total number of viable cells was performed using CellTiter96®AQ<sub>ueous</sub>One Solution Cell Proliferation Assay, cell counting and trypan blue exclusion. As shown in the table, the MV4-11/WT1 cellculture was more resistant to the decreased proliferation induced by AG1296 than MV4-11/MIG (empty vector). Mean values from one experiment performed in triplicates are shown.

#### What are the molecular consequences of overexpressed WT1?

As outlined above, clinical and experimental data strongly indicate that WT1 is important for the leukemic phenotype. WT1 has a multitude of identified potential target genes with proposed oncogenic ability. WT1 represses Cyclin  $E^{68}$ , a key regulator of the cell cycle that activates cdk2 leading to Rb phosphorylation and progression from G<sub>1</sub> into S-phase. A majority of AMLs have overexpressed cyclin  $E^{218}$ , which might seem inconsistent with a WT1mediated repression. However, it is possible that when binding to the cyclin E promoter, WT1 might have repressing or activating effects depending on cellular context. Furthermore, 10% of adult AMLs express high levels of mutated WT1 that might have dominant negative actions<sup>199-201</sup>, possibly inhibiting a WT1-mediated repression of the cyclin E promoter in AML with mutated WT1.

In cancers where aberrant high WT1 expression is detected, the WT1 target gene bcl- $2^{72}$  is upregulated, suggesting that bcl-2 mediates increased viability downstream of WT1. In consistence with this, other studies show that WT1 overexpression is associated with chemotheraphy resistence, due to repression of the pro-apoptotic gene Bak and induction of bcl- $2^{48}$ , suggesting an oncogenic cell survival advantage of WT1 expressing cells. However, in **paper I** we could not confirm upregulation of bcl-2 in association with WT1-mediated resistance to imatinib in CML-cells.

WT1 is suggested to be able to repress JunB<sup>97</sup> in *in vitro* studies, thus promoting survival. Interestingly, in AML JunB expression is down-modulated in HSC<sup>219</sup>, raising the question if this is partly due to WT1 repression of the JunB gene? In breast cancer cells overexpression of WT1 induces upregulation of the protooncogene c-myc<sup>93</sup> and also repression of the estrogen receptor-A (ERA)<sup>91</sup> leading to positive effects on survival. Transcriptional activation of the antiapoptotic A1/BFL1 gene by WT1 conferred resistance to chemotheraphy in a cancer cell line and a correlation between A1/BFL1 and WT1 was also identified in primary AML samples<sup>74</sup>, suggesting a co-operative role in drug resistant leukemias.

In conclusion, there are a number of potential target genes of WT1 that might contribute to the oncogenic effect of WT1 in leukemia, but the exact underlying molecular mechanisms mediated by WT1 in leukemogenesis, the effector role for WT1, still needs to be made clear.

#### WT1 down-modulates IRF8

In **paper II**, we show that the WT1 protein directly represses transcription of the interferon regulatory factor 8 gene.

Interferon regulatory factor 8 (IRF8), also designated interferon consensus sequence binding protein (ICSBP), belongs to the interferon response factor family with IRF1 to IRF10 identified so far. IRFs contain a conserved N-terminal DNA-binding domain (DBD) that recognizes DNA sequences with IFN-stimulated response elements (ISREs), and a C-terminal IRF association domain (IAD). IRF8 binds to ISRE when interacting with other IRF proteins, like IRF1 and IRF2 and also to various Ets/IRF composite elements, when interacting with the Ets family transcription factor, PU.1 (reviewed in Ozato *et al.*, 2007)<sup>220</sup>. Phosphorylation of specific tyrosine residues is essential for efficient protein-protein interaction. The IRF8 promoter contains a GAS-site activated by Interferon- $\gamma$  (IFN- $\gamma$ ) that binds STAT1<sup>221</sup> and a NF $\kappa$ B-site induced by lipopolysaccharide (LPS)<sup>222</sup>. In addition to IFN- $\gamma$ , also IFN- $\alpha$  activates the IRF8 promoter<sup>223</sup>.

IRF8 is predominantly expressed in hematopoietic cells. The stem cell population and early progenitor cells express IRF8 and it is also detected in cells of the immune system with high levels in macrophages, mature B-cells and dendritic cells (DCs). The expression is low in granulocytes and resting T-cells (reviewed in Tamura et al. 2008)<sup>224</sup>. A recent report implies IRF8 to be critical for development of eosinophils<sup>225</sup>. IRF8 and IRF1 co-operatively activate expression of interleukin 12 (IL-12), important for T-cells response, and mice lacking IRF8 are susceptible to intracellular pathogens, due to defect IL-12 production supporting the role of IRF8 in the immune system (reviewed in Tamura et al., 2008)<sup>224</sup>. Most interestingly, IRF8 deficient mice also develop a myeloproliferative CML-like disorder<sup>226</sup>. IRF8 regulates myeloid cell development; macrophage differentiation is stimulated, while granulocyte differentiation is inhibited, in both cases cell growth is decreased (reviewed in Tamura and Ozato, 2002)<sup>156</sup>. A negative effect of IRF8 on proliferation is consistent with the effects on transcriptional activation of neurofibromin 1, which in turn inactivates Ras<sup>227,228</sup>. IRF8 functions as a positive regulator of apoptosis in leukemic U937 cells<sup>229</sup>. Most human myeloid leukemias have reduced or no IRF8 transcripts.

Given (i) the high expression of WT1 and low expression of IRF8 in most leukemias, (ii) the tumour suppressor like activity of IRF8, and (iii) the report of

BCR/ABL1-mediated down-modulation of IRF8 expression in murine cells<sup>231</sup>, led us to speculate that WT1 might be a general repressor of IRF8 in leukemia. In **paper II** we present evidence for this: we report a negative correlation between WT1 and IRF8 mRNA levels in primary AML and CML samples and show that WT1 represses mRNA and protein levels of IRF8 in hematopoietic progenitor cells.

By what mechanism does WT1 repress IRF8? We found no proof of WT1 induced silencing of IRF8 through promoted methylation of the IRF8 promoter (paper II). Bisulfite sequencing was made in a CpG-rich region of the IRF8 promoter, which is methylated in some cancers<sup>232,233</sup>. WT1 binds directly to a WT1-binding site in the IRF8 promoter, showed as modest transcriptional repression of IRF8 activity in a reporter assay, and convincingly demonstrated by chromatin-immunoprecipitation (ChIP) analysis. We cannot exclude, however, that also other regions of the IRF8 gene might be involved in the response to WT1. Repression of IRF8 by WT1 is probably not part of a general WT1 associated down-modulation of interferon-responsive genes, since IRF8 transcripts were specifically decreased when also IRF1, IRF4 and ISG15 mRNA levels were quantified. In contrast to IRF8 the other tested genes showed even raised transcript levels in response to WT1. As expected, the WT1 mutant, WT1(delZ) with no DNA-binding capacity, had no influence on the analysed interferon-responsive gene transcripts, consistent with promoter binding and transcriptional regulation by full-length WT1.

To evaluate whether high WT1 levels are associated with low IRF8 expression in clinical samples, we compiled a compendium of four leukemia microarray data sets from primary AML and CML samples<sup>234-237</sup> and found a relatively strong anti-correlation between WT1 and IRF8 mRNA levels supporting that WT1 acts as a repressor of IRF8 in leukemia. This led us to investigate whether down-modulation of WT1 is a prerequisite for interferon-induced upregulation of IRF8. However, IFN- $\gamma$  induction of IRF8 mRNA in a CML cell line (K562) conferred no alteration of WT1 transcript (data not shown), which made us conclude that IFN- $\gamma$  induced IRF8 is not dependent on changed WT1 expression, at least not in these cells.

In a murine model, forced expression of BCR/ABL1 led to a CML-like disease with significantly lowered IRF8 protein<sup>231</sup>, and importantly, the induced leukemic phenotype could be counteracted by ectopic expression of IRF8, both *in vivo* and *in vitro*<sup>231,238,239</sup>. The underlying mechanism by which IRF8 was repressed by BCR/ABL1 was not identified. In our BCR/ABL1 transduced

human progenitor cells, WT1 expression was increased (**paper I**) and IRF8 levels were decreased (**paper II**). WT1 expression may also be induced by other tyrosine kinases like leukemic FLT3-ITD (Fig 6).

Given the findings by us and others, we propose that WT1 is the missing link in the BCR/ABL1-IRF8 axis.

What are the consequences of repressed IRF8? IRF8 is implied to be a myeloid tumour suppressor, evidenced by several observations; (i) a high percentage of human AML and CML lack IRF8 transcripts<sup>230</sup>, (ii) both homozygous and heterozygous elimination of IRF8 generate a myeloproliferative disorder to degree, pointing to tumour suppressor gene showing varving а haploinsufficiency<sup>226</sup>, (iii) in the IRF8<sup>-/-</sup> mice, the hematological disturbance, a CML-like disease, can be counteracted by forced expression of IRF8<sup>231,238,239</sup>, (iv) IRF8 deficient mice develop acute leukemias in collaboration with NUP98-TOP1 or AML1-ETO fusion genes, with oncogenic signalling from SHP2 Meis1/Meis3<sup>240</sup> or with tyrosine phosphatase, with forced expression of neurofibromin 1 (NF1) haploinsufficiency<sup>241</sup>. Therefore, a WT1 mediated repression of IRF8 is potentially a general mechanism by which WT1 confers leukemogenic effects in several forms of leukemia.

In myeloid cells IRF8 negatively regulates c-myc through induction of Blymphocyte-induced maturation protein-1 (Blimp-1) and mitogenic Ets (METS) and directly stimulates expression of inhibitor of cyclin-dependent kinase p15 <sup>Ink4b</sup> (reviewed in Tamura and Ozato, 2002)<sup>156</sup>, leading to inhibition of cell division. In myeloid cells, genes associated to granulocyte differentiation such as G-CSF receptor, C/EBP $\alpha$  and C/EBP $\epsilon$  are down-modulated after IRF8 transduction, whereas, Egr-1 a transcription factor linked to differentiation of macrophages is strongly induced by IRF8<sup>156</sup>. This reflects a role of IRF8 in lineage selection. IRF8 modulates survival of myeloid cells through repression of the anti-apoptosis associated proteins bcl-X<sub>L</sub> and bcl-2.

Further, the PTPN13 gene that is repressed by IRF8, encodes a Fas-associated phosphatase 1 (Fap-1) that negatively effects Fas phosphorylation and Fasmediated apoptosis. In complex with IRF2 and PU.1, IRF8 activates NF1 expression leading to suppressed Ras signalling, that decreases proliferative response to cytokines and prevents proliferation of myeloid cells (reviewed in Tamura *et al.*, 2008)<sup>224</sup>.

A functional tumour suppressor role for IRF8 in other malignancies than leukemia is also implied, since IRF8 is epigenetically silenced in a multitude of carcinomas. Methylation of the IRF8 promoter leading to disruption of IFN- $\gamma$  stimulation of IRF8, was found in nasopharyngeal, esophageal, breast, cervical, lung and colorectal cancers, while forced expression of IRF8 inhibited carcinoma cell clonogenicity<sup>242</sup>.

## Effects of WT1 on expression of the NDRG2 gene

To screen for additional potential WT1-target genes in leukemic cells with high WT1 levels, we performed an oligonucleotide array analysis on total-RNA from sorted WT1-transduced CD34<sup>+</sup> human progenitor cells and empty vector transduced control cells. The used vector contains an internal ribosomal entry site (IRES) and the sequence for enhanced green fluorescent protein (eGFP) is expressed bicistronically with the cloned WT1 cDNA. The transduced CD34<sup>+</sup> cells were sorted for GFP<sup>+</sup>, since GFP is used as a marker for cells expressing the gene of interest. The generated probe-signals in control cells and WT1-transduced cells were compared. Candidate mRNAs that showed altered expression in the WT1-transduced progenitor cells, as compared to control cells, were further analysed by real-time qPCR, to confirm or reject new potential WT1-target genes. Among the genes confirmed as upregulated by WT1, we chose the N-myc downstream regulated gene 2 (NDRG2) for further investigation (**paper III**).

NDRG2 is a candidate tumour suppressor gene that belongs to the N-myc downregulated gene family NDRG1 to NDRG4, and despite the name NDRG2, it is not negatively regulated by N-myc<sup>243</sup>. NDRG2 is a cytosolic protein, widely expressed, especially in brain where it has a putative role in neuronal differentiation<sup>244</sup> and upregulation of NDRG2 is associated with Alzheimer's disease<sup>245</sup>. NDRG2 is also expressed in heart, skeletal muscle and kidney<sup>246,247</sup>. Induced expression of the NDRG2 protein in dendritic cells (DC) during differentiation<sup>248</sup> and specific expression of NDRG2 in macrophages, in contrast to neutrophil specific expression of NDRG1, implies a distinct role for NDRG2 in myeloid differentiation<sup>249</sup>. Recently, a report showed that NDRG2 regulated IL-10 production in myeloid cells through inhibitory mechanisms of p38 MAPK, with the underlying signal cascade yet unknown<sup>250</sup>.

Oncogenic consequences of upregulation of NDRG2 by enforced WT1 expression are not obvious from reported effects in some experimental models; NDRG2 is functioning as a candidate tumour suppressor gene in glioblastoma, where very low NDRG2 expression was detected as compared to normal brain, and with prohibited cell division when forced NDRG2 was introduced into the cells<sup>251</sup>. Interestingly however, NDRG2 has been identified as one of the genes

specific for the hematopoietic stem cell signature, associated with the quiescent state of the HSCs<sup>252</sup>. Both NDRG2 and WT1 have been suggested to be involved in the Wnt-signalling pathway. NDRG2 modulation of intracellular  $\beta$ -catenin with effects on T-cell factor (TCF)/lymphoid enhancer factor (LEF) transcriptional activation of Wnt target genes have been in reported in human carcinomas<sup>253</sup>. WT1 has been proposed to regulate Wnt components during kidney development<sup>152,153</sup> and deregulation of this pathway is probably involved in the pathogenesis of Wilms' tumour (reviewed in Nusse, 2007)<sup>254</sup>.

It is tempting to speculate that high WT1 levels in early hematopoietic stem cells affects the self-renewing capacity involving upregulation of NDRG2 in the quiescent HSCs. WT1 via NDRG2 may hypothetically affect Wnt-signalling, leading to leukemogenesis through activation of target genes promoting proliferation in the Wnt signalling pathway, as cyclin D1 and/or c-Myc? The absence of effects from forced expression of NDRG2 in colony formation assays of CD34<sup>+</sup> progenitor cells (**paper III**) might indicate that stem cells are not investigated, or that NDRG2 alone is not sufficient for effects. These issues need, however, to be further investigated.

## Is WT1(del Z) an oncogenic gain-of-function mutation?

As referred to in a previous passage, about 10% of the cytogenetically normal adult AMLs show presence of heterozygous WT1-mutations, which is an adverse independent prognostic predictor, regarding response to chemotheraphy treatment and an indicator of increased risk of relapse and death<sup>199-201</sup>. The predominant mutations are frameshift mutations, a consequence of small insertions or deletions in exon 7, which introduce a premature stop-codon leading to a truncated WT1 protein devoid of zinc-fingers. The other main types of mutations, affecting exon nine. These types of mutations result in impaired/changed DNA-binding capacity for the WT1-mutant, resembling the altered zinc-finger configuration found in Denys-Drash syndrome<sup>116</sup>.

The relevance for protein expression of the insertion/deletion mutations in exon 7 of the WT1 gene detected in AMLs have been questioned in a recent report<sup>202</sup>. AML cases with WT1 mutations giving rise to premature termination codons (PTCs) produced WT1 transcripts that were degraded by translation-mediated nonsense-mediated RNA decay (NMD)<sup>202</sup>. NMD is a cellular control mechanism that functions to prevent translation of truncated and defect proteins by degradation of mRNA with PTCs<sup>255</sup>. The authors claim that most WT1

transcripts with PTCs are degraded and not expressing the predicted truncated WT1 protein<sup>202</sup>. However, in debate of this are studies with detected mRNA transcripts in primary childhood AML and pediatric and adult T-ALL cases harbouring WT1 mutations in exon 7<sup>204,205,207</sup>, suggesting that not all out-of-frame WT1 mutations are prone to the nonsense-mediated RNA decay. Indeed, in pediatric AML the cases harbouring WT1 mutations in exon 7 expressed significantly higher mutant WT1 mRNA levels than WT1 wild-type cases<sup>205</sup>.

Oncogenic effects mediated by truncated WT1 proteins are indicated because of the association with WT1 mutations to poor clinical outcome. If the mutant WT1 mRNA was degraded by NMD, the oncogenic effect must be dependent on a tumour suppressor function and haploinsufficiency of wild-type WT1. However, as described above, several lines of experimental evidence rather support an oncogenic function of WT1 in leukemia. NMD of mutant WT1 mRNA is not compatible with oncogenic effects of full-length WT1. Rather, aggravated or new oncogenic functions of mutant WT1 are more consistent with existing data. The most abundant WT1 mutation encoded protein, with no DNA-binding capacity, have an intact N-terminal part with functional domains and may possess changed properties. The full-length WT1 protein may be bound to the WT1-mutant via the self-association domain and this may lead to effects on remaining full-length WT1. The WT1-mutant may also compete with wild-type WT1 protein in sequestering of critical co-factors important for various transcriptional regulations, such as CBP/p300.

Does the truncated WT1-mutant with lack of zinc-fingers then indeed have oncogenic properties? In **paper IV**, we demonstrate that human progenitor cells with forced expression of a WT1-mutant devoid of the zinc-finger domain, WT1(delZ), show prolonged and increased proliferation in suspension cultures and increased clonogenic potential in methylcellulose cultures, as compared to wild-type WT1-expressing cells or to control cells. The WT1(delZ) expressing cells had enhanced proliferation rate both in absence or presence of added erythropoietin. Interestingly, the WT1(delZ) expressing cells without added erythropoietin differentiated towards an erythroid phenotype, as judged by erythroid clonogenic potential, elevated amounts of adult hemoglobin (HbA) and CD45 negativity (CD45 is expressed on all hematopoietic cells except erythrocytes and platelets). This suggests that WT1(delZ) activates some signalling pathways downstream of the erythropoietin receptor (EpoR). Apparently, WT1(delZ) did not fully substitute for erythropoietin signalling, since mRNA levels of the erythroid-specific transcription factors GATA-1, erythroid Krüppel-like factor (EKL) and TAL-1/SCL were not affected by WT1(delZ), although they did respond to added erythropoietin.

In the presence of added erythropoietin, HbA levels were raised in the WT1expressing progenitor cells after two weeks in culture, possibly as a result of upregulation of the EpoR, a target gene activated by WT1<sup>92</sup>. In consistence with absence of transcriptional activation capacity, levels of the EpoR were not affected by the WT1(delZ) mutant. Notably, however, WT1(delZ) expressing cells induced with erythropoietin showed less erythroid differentiation (as judged by hemoglobin content), when compared to control cells. Therefore, data indicate that WT1(delZ) inhibits differentiating signals from the EpoR in the presence of erythropoietin, but in the absence of erythropoietin WT1(delZ) induces some signalling for erythroid differentiation. These effects of WT1(delZ) might appear contradictory to one another. We hypothesize that WT1(delZ) binds to specific proteins in the cytoplasm, since previous findings have shown a predominant cytoplasmic localization of the WT1-mutant<sup>115</sup>. One candidate for WT1 binding in the context of signals for erythroid differentiation is STAT5, which is a transcription factor involved in the cell signalling cascade downstream the EpoR and which is critical for proper erythroid differentiation (reviewed in Hennighausen and Robinson, 2008)<sup>256</sup>. Indeed, we found elevated STAT5A and STAT5B levels and phospho-STAT5A/B in WT1(delZ) transduced cells, even in the absence of erythropoietin (paper IV). The raised amount of STAT5 protein was not correlated to an increase of STAT5 mRNA, indicating a post-translational stabilization of STAT5 protein by WT1(delZ). The N-terminal part of full-length WT1 has previously been shown to directly interact with activated STAT3, thus promoting cell proliferation, probably through upregulation of cyclin D1 and bcl-X<sub>L</sub><sup>126</sup>. Besides its function as a nuclear transcription factor, it was recently reported that cytoplasmic activated STAT5 participates in a PI3K/Akt pathway leading to cell proliferation<sup>257</sup>. STAT5 is to a large extent localized to the cytoplasm in myeloid leukemias, consistent with a cytoplasmic function in enhancement of proliferation in those cells<sup>257</sup>. We speculate on that WT1(delZ) binds and stabilizes STAT5 in the cytoplasm, thus increasing signals for cell division, which might explain the increased proliferation of WT1(delZ) expressing cells. Further we speculate that the raised STAT5 levels contribute to some increase of nuclear STAT5, explaining the slight increase of erythroid differentiation in the absence of exogenous erythropoietin. How can it then be explained that WT1(delZ) rather inhibits erythroid maturation in the presence of erythropoietin? Hypothetically, a sequestering of STAT5 in the cytoplasm could interfere with the prominent

nuclear translocation of STAT5, induced by EpoR-signalling, thus interfering with differentiation inducing signals (but not with signals promoting cell division). A speculative model on signals from cytoplasmic and nuclear STAT5 and how they are affected by EpoR-signalling and by WT1(delZ) is presented in fig 7.

Other observations also support a functional role of mutated WT1 in hematopoietic cells: expression of a mutant WT1, truncated within zinc-finger three in embryonic stem cells resulted in delayed hematopoiesis into myeloid lineages in an *in vitro* study, suggesting impairment of hematopoietic development mediated by the WT1-mutant<sup>258</sup>. In accordance with this, our observation in **paper IV**, that WT1(delZ) expressing progenitor cells showed more sustained CD33 positivity, may reflect a delayed maturation. Is it possible that such a delay in progenitor cell differentiation may confer prolonged proliferation and an enhanced risk of genetic instabilities, leading to increased risk for leukemia development?

In conclusion, the novel properties of WT1(delZ) mediating increased and prolonged cell division capacity detected in our progenitor cells, the lineage choice towards erythroid differentiation and the sustained maturation shown by us and others<sup>258</sup> is in accordance with a gain-of-function for the WT1-mutant. It might be that full-length WT1 normally has a role to play in this context (the highest expression of WT1 was found in megakaryocyte/erythrocyte progenitor cells (MEPs)<sup>61</sup>) and that the oncogenic potential of WT1(delZ) depends on an increase of the cytoplasmic function of WT1, while a nuclear function in regulation of transcription of target genes is lost.

Figure 7. Highly speculative models on signals from cytoplasmic and nuclear STAT5 and how they are affected by WT1(delZ). STAT5 is to a large extent localized to the cytoplasm and cytoplasmic activated STAT5 participates in a PI3K/Akt cell signalling pathway. The presence of WT1(delZ) in the human progenitor cells confers altered phenotype as compared to control cells; erythropoietin (Epo) induced canonical signal may be affected regarding cell division and nuclear STAT5 transcriptional activity leading to perturbed erythroid differentiation programme induction.



*Figure 7a.* In control cells with no exogenous Epo induction, cytoplasmic activated STAT5 participates in a PI3K/Akt pathway leading to cell division.



**Figure 7b.** We speculate on that WT1(delZ) binds and stabilizes STAT5 in the cytoplasm, thus increasing signals for cell division, which is a possible explanation for the increased proliferation of WT1(delZ) expressing progenitor cells. Raised STAT5 levels may contribute to some increase of nuclear STAT5, explaining the slight increase of erythroid differentiation in the absence of introduced exogenous Epo.



**Figure 7c.** A canonical Epo-induced signalling from the Epo-receptor confers both increased amounts of cytoplasmic activated STAT5, that binds to PI3K leading to enhanced cell division through the PI3K/Akt pathway, and a prominent nuclear translocation of STAT5 giving raise to strong erythroid differentiation induction in the control cells.



**Figure 7d.** We speculate on that canonical Epo-induced signalling from the Eporeceptor mediates increased cytoplasmic activated STAT5, stabilized by WT1(delZ) binding, thus increasing signals for cell division. A hypothetical explanation for the inhibited erythroid maturation in the WT1(delZ) expressing progenitor cells is that the sequestering of STAT5 in the cytoplasm interferes with the nuclear translocation of STAT5 induced by Epo-R signalling, thus interfering with erythroid differentiation signals (but not with signals promoting cell division).

## CONCLUSIONS

In this thesis project leukemic cell lines and primary human CD34<sup>+</sup> progenitor cells, extracted from umbilical cord blood, were used as experimental model system to characterize the impact and molecular mechanisms of WT1 and the WT1-mutant, WT1(delZ) in hematopoietic cells. The main conclusions of the present study may be summarized as follows:

- Oncogenic BCR/ABL1 tyrosine kinase activity in chronic myeloid leukemia (CML) cells induces high WT1 mRNA and protein expression via the PI3K/Akt pathway.
- Forced expression of WT1 in CML cells provides resistance against cytotoxic effects induced by the ABL tyrosine kinase inhibitor imatinib.
- Oncogenic FLT3-ITD tyrosine kinase activity confers enhanced WT1 levels and forced expression of WT1 in FLT3-ITD expressing cells mediates resistance to decreased proliferation induced by the FLT3 inhibitor, AG1296.
- WT1 decreases the expression of the myeloid tumour suppressor interferon regulatory factor 8 (IRF8) by direct binding to the IRF8 promoter.
- An anticorrelation between WT1 mRNA and IRF8 mRNA is present in leukemic cell lines and in mRNA expression data sets from primary leukemias.
- N-myc downstream regulated gene 2 (NDRG2) is induced by WT1 and is a putative WT1 target gene.
- Expression of the leukemia-associated WT1-mutant WT1(delZ) in human progenitor cells promotes proliferation, increased clonogenic growth, and erythroid differentiation, indicating oncogenic effects.
- STAT5 protein levels are increased in the WT1(delZ) expressing progenitor cells at the post-transcriptional level, suggesting stabilization of STAT5 as a possible oncogenic mechanism for WT1(delZ).

## SVENSK SAMMANFATTNING (SUMMARY IN SWEDISH)

### Hematopoes och leukemi

Hematopoes är benämningen på den process varigenom alla blodceller genom hela livet kontinuerligt utvecklas i benmärgen, samt vid bildandet av lymfocyter även i lymfkörtlarna. Varje dygn bildas det ca 10<sup>12</sup> nya celler i benmärgen för att ersätta uttjänta blodceller som dör och bryts ned. Ett litet antal stamceller i benmärgen ansvarar för att hematopoesen kan fortgå. Nivån av stamceller hålls konstant genom att de vid celldelning bildar antingen nya stamceller eller förstadier till blodceller, som i en utmognadsprocess slutligen blir mogna röda blodkroppar (erytrocyter), vita blodkroppar (granulocyter, monocyter och lymfocyter) och blodplättar (trombocyter.

Hematopoesen regleras i ett komplext system med samspel mellan speciella proteiner som benämns tillväxtfaktorer och transkriptionsfaktorer, vilka är proteiner som binder till gener i cellernas DNA och aktiverar eller förhindrar uttryck från generna. De mogna blodcellerna transporteras ut i kroppen för att utföra sina specifika funktioner. De röda blodcellerna är syretransportörer. Vita blodceller är viktiga i immunförsvaret vid infektioner och blodplättarna är nödvändiga för att förhindra blödningar och deltar i blodets koagulering.

Leukemi är samlingsnamn för en rad elakartade cancerformer som drabbar de blodbildande cellerna. Omvandlingen från en normal cell till en leukemisk cell beror på uppkomna genetiska förändringar i de hematopoietiska stamcellerna eller i tidiga hematopoietiska celler, vilket leder till förhindrad utmognad av funktionella blodceller och en ansamling av vita omogna blodceller i benmärgen och i blodet. Obehandlade akuta leukemier leder snabbt till döden på grund av den kraftiga expansionen av leukemiceller i benmärgen och till följd av detta få normala blodceller i blodet. Patienterna lider ofta av blodbrist och stor infektionskänslighet. Akuta leukemier drabbar både barn och vuxna, medan kronisk leukemi förekommer främst bland vuxna. Kroniska leukemier omvandlas ofta med tiden till mer aggressiva, akuta leukemier. Troligen orsakas denna utveckling av ytterligare genetiska avvikelser med förändringar i funktionen för transkriptionsfaktorer samt aktivering av andra cellsignaleringsvägar.

Trots att det idag finns relativt mycket kunskap om genetiska förändringar som är förknippade med utveckling av leukemi, så är de faktorer som styr omvandlingen från en normal cell till en leukemisk cell till stor del fortfarande inte klargjorda.

## Wilms' tumör gen 1 och leukemi

Wilms' tumör gen 1 (WT1), är en transkriptionsfaktor som uttrycks i en liten andel av tidiga stamceller, minskar under utmognaden av blodcellerna och som inte återfinns i normala mogna blodceller. Detta skulle kunna innebära att en minskning av WT1 proteinet under utmognad är det normala och är nödvändigt för att tillåta utmognadsprocessen.

Många leukemier hos både barn och vuxna har höga nivåer av WT1 vid diagnostillfället, vilket ofta innebär en sämre prognos för patienten. Genetiska förändringar, mutationer, i WT1 genen återfinns i en del av leukemierna, vilket innebär en ökad risk för resistens mot behandling. WT1-mutationerna leder ofta till ett WT1 protein som saknar den proteindelen som kan binda till DNA, vilket innebär att mutanten inte kan reglera de gener som WT1 normalt binder till. Förändrade egenskaper och förvärvade nya egenskaper för WT1-mutanten kanske bidrar till utmognadsblockaden och ger WT1 en onkogen roll i utvecklingen av leukemi.

# Min forskning

För att undersöka effekter av WT1 och mekanismer för hur WT1 påverkar celldelning och utmognad av blodceller, så överuttrycktes WT1 och WT1mutanten i tidiga omogna celler. I mina försök medförde WT1-mutanten, som inte kan binda till DNA, en förlängd ökad celltillväxt och utmognad i den riktning som leder till bildning av röda blodceller. Normalt WT1 medförde däremot minskad tillväxt av både vita och röda blodceller. Den exakta mekanismen som styr WT1-mutantens påverkan på celltillväxten är ännu inte klargjord, men jag har resultat som indikerar att transkriptionsfaktorn STAT5 kan vara involverad i denna process.

För att försöka identifiera gener som WT1 reglerar i leukemier med högt WT1 uttryck, gjordes en analys av förändrade genuttryck i humana tidiga blodceller med överuttryckt WT1 jämfört med kontrollceller. Jag hittade en gen som aktiveras av WT1, N-myc downstream regulated gene 2 (NDRG2). Betydelsen av detta fynd är inte helt uppenbar, men NDRG2 har senare visat sig vara en av de gener som styr hematopoetiska stamceller. Detta skulle kunna innebära att WT1 via NDRG2-reglering indirekt kan påverka stamcellernas funktion.

Jag identifierade även en transkriptionsfaktor, Interferon regulatory factor 8 (IRF8), vars gen WT1 proteinet binder till, vilket medför sänkt uttryck från IRF8 genen. Betydelsen av detta fynd bekräftades vid undersökning av ett stort

patientmaterial från primära leukemier, där jag fann en stark anti-korrelation mellan WT1 och IRF8 nivåer.

Mina studier bekräftade fynd presenterade i tidigare rapporter att onkoproteinet BCR/ABL1 ger förhöjda WT1 nivåer och jag påvisade dessutom vilken specifik cellsignalleringsväg som är aktiv i denna process. Celler med överuttryckt BCR/ABL1 visade förhöjda WT1 nivåer och sänkta IRF8 nivåer, både på genuttrycksnivå och proteinnivå i mina försök och detta speglar förhållandet i de leukemiceller där BCR/ABL1 finns närvarande.

Jag tror att WT1 proteinets roll i leukemogenesen är mångfacetterad, men genom att karakterisera olika molekylära mekanismer som WT1 proteinet styr, både i sin full-längds form och som WT1-mutant, så kan man så småningom använda denna kunskap i utvecklingen av riktad terapi som leukemibehandling.

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Iag víll tacka alla som på olíka sätt bídragít tíll denna avhandlíng.
Framför allt víll jag framföra mín tacksamhet tíll:

*Urban Gullberg*, min handledare och chef som gjorde det möjligt för mig att inte bara vara en aktiv del i forskargruppen, utan också att få bedriva egna forskarstudier. Tack för att du alltid tar dig tid för dina doktorander, är uppmuntrande, kunnig och dessutom har ett löparintresse.

*Tor Olofsson*, min biträdande handledare och FACS-expert, för hjälp med utsortering och analys av mina viktiga celler och för att du delar med dig av din stora kunskap i flödes cytometri.

*Emelie Svensson*, för vårt givande samarbete och för trevligt sällskap i WT1projektet (och på BMC-gymmet) under några år.

*Bodil Rosberg*, för all hjälp med ändlösa cellodlingar i alla dess former under den senaste tiden och för trevliga diskussioner om saker utanför labbet också.

*Malin Ageberg* och *Susanna Obad*, min nuvarande och tidigare skrivrumskollega, för att ni båda är mycket trevliga rumskamrater och för att ni har delat med er av värdefulla tips i skrivprocessen.

Kristina Drott, Jessica Petersson, Carl Sandén, Pontus Andell och Andreas Martinsson för att ni bidrar till UG-gruppens trevliga och inspirerande atmosfär.

*Britt Thuresson*, för all sekveneringshjälp och för alla diskussioner, både de vetenskapliga och de icke vetenskapliga.

Andreas Lennartsson, för ett givande och trevligt pågående samarbete.

*Björn Nilsson*, för hjälp med statistiska beräkningar av mina undersökta gener i stora genexpressions data från analyserade leukemiprov.

Carin Lassen och Thoas Fioretos, avdelningen för klinisk genetik, Johan Richter, avdelningen för molekylärmedicin och genterapi samt Johan Vallon-Christersson och Åke Borg, avdelningen för onkologi för ett givande samarbete.

*Ellinor Johnsson* för att du var den som promotade avdelningen för hematologi och fick mig att söka mig hit och för våra sporadiska, men alltid lika uppiggande lunchträffar.

Ann-Maj Persson och May-Louise Andersson, för hjälp med diverse saker under årens lopp.

Helena Eriksson, för att du banade väg för forskningen om WT1 på vår avdelning.

Alla tidigare och nuvarande arbetskamrater på avdelningen samt kollegor på njurmedicin och på våningsplanet C14 för trevliga utflykter, julfester, retreats och utbyte av laborativa erfarenheter.

Karin Olsson, Eva Nilsson och Ann-Margreth Carlsson, avdelningen för molekylärmedicin och genterapi, för att ni ger oss tillgång till tidiga progenitorceller som är nödvändiga i våra försök.

....och tíll er som förgyller lívet utanför labbet

*Min familj* som alltid finns där och ger perspektiv på vad som är viktigt i livet, min man *Nino* och våra barn *Isabella, Jennifer* och *Andreas*.

Mina föräldrar, svärföräldrar och min svägerska Anna, för allt stöd och hjälp med allt möjligt.

Patrik, min bror, för den bästa datahjälpen man kan önska sig ©.

Alla mina vänner från olika sammanhang som berikar livet på många sätt.

TACK! 🏶

### REFERENCES

1. Gessler M, Poustka A, Cavenee W, Neve RL, Orkin SH, Bruns GA. Homozygous deletion in Wilms tumours of a zinc-finger gene identified by chromosome jumping. Nature. 1990;343:774-778.

2. Haber DA, Buckler AJ, Glaser T, et al. An internal deletion within an 11p13 zinc finger gene contributes to the development of Wilms' tumor. Cell. 1990;61:1257-1269.

3. Reddy JC, Licht JD. The WT1 Wilms' tumor suppressor gene: how much do we really know? Biochim Biophys Acta. 1996;1287:1-28.

4. Sharma PM, Bowman M, Madden SL, Rauscher FJ, 3rd, Sukumar S. RNA editing in the Wilms' tumor susceptibility gene, WT1. Genes Dev. 1994;8:720-731.

5. Bruening W, Pelletier J. A non-AUG translational initiation event generates novel WT1 isoforms. J Biol Chem. 1996;271:8646-8654.

6. Scharnhorst V, Dekker P, van der Eb AJ, Jochemsen AG. Internal translation initiation generates novel WT1 protein isoforms with distinct biological properties. J Biol Chem. 1999;274:23456-23462.

7. Hossain A, Nixon M, Kuo MT, Saunders GF. N-terminally truncated WT1 protein with oncogenic properties overexpressed in leukemia. J Biol Chem. 2006;281:28122-28130.

8. Hofmann W, Royer HD, Drechsler M, Schneider S, Royer-Pokora B. Characterization of the transcriptional regulatory region of the human WT1 gene. Oncogene. 1993;8:3123-3132.

9. Gessler M, Bruns GA. Sequence of the WT1 upstream region including the Wit-1 gene. Genomics. 1993;17:499-501.

10. Fraizer GC, Wu YJ, Hewitt SM, et al. Transcriptional regulation of the human Wilms' tumor gene (WT1). Cell type-specific enhancer and promiscuous promoter. J Biol Chem. 1994;269:8892-8900.

11. Zhang X, Xing G, Fraizer GC, Saunders GF. Transactivation of an intronic hematopoietic-specific enhancer of the human Wilms' tumor 1 gene by GATA-1 and c-Myb. J Biol Chem. 1997;272:29272-29280.

12. Siehl JM, Thiel E, Heufelder K, et al. Possible regulation of Wilms' tumour gene 1 (WT1) expression by the paired box genes PAX2 and PAX8 and by the haematopoietic transcription factor GATA-1 in human acute myeloid leukaemias. Br J Haematol. 2003;123:235-242.

13. Wu Y, Fraizer GC, Saunders GF. GATA-1 transactivates the WT1 hematopoietic specific enhancer. J Biol Chem. 1995;270:5944-5949.

14. McConnell MJ, Cunliffe HE, Chua LJ, Ward TA, Eccles MR. Differential regulation of the human Wilms tumour suppressor gene (WT1) promoter by two isoforms of PAX2. Oncogene. 1997;14:2689-2700.

15. Dehbi M, Ghahremani M, Lechner M, Dressler G, Pelletier J. The paired-box transcription factor, PAX2, positively modulates expression of the Wilms' tumor suppressor gene (WT1). Oncogene. 1996;13:447-453.

16. Discenza MT, Vaz D, Hassell JA, Pelletier J. Activation of the WT1 tumor suppressor gene promoter by Pea3. FEBS Lett. 2004;560:183-191.

17. Cohen HT, Bossone SA, Zhu G, McDonald GA, Sukhatme VP. Sp1 is a critical regulator of the Wilms' tumor-1 gene. J Biol Chem. 1997;272:2901-2913.

18. Campbell CE, Huang A, Gurney AL, Kessler PM, Hewitt JA, Williams BR. Antisense transcripts and protein binding motifs within the Wilms tumour (WT1) locus. Oncogene. 1994;9:583-595.

19. Dehbi M, Pelletier J. PAX8-mediated activation of the wt1 tumor suppressor gene. Embo J. 1996;15:4297-4306.

20. Dehbi M, Hiscott J, Pelletier J. Activation of the wt1 Wilms' tumor suppressor gene by NF-kappaB. Oncogene. 1998;16:2033-2039.

21. Furuhata A, Murakami M, Ito H, et al. GATA-1 and GATA-2 binding to 3' enhancer of WT1 gene is essential for its transcription in acute leukemia and solid tumor cell lines. Leukemia. 2009;23:1270-1277.

22. Shao Y, Lu J, Zhang G, Liu C, Huang B. Histone acetyltransferase p300 promotes the activation of human WT1 promoter and intronic enhancer. Arch Biochem Biophys. 2005;436:62-68.

23. Eccles MR, Grubb G, Ogawa O, Szeto J, Reeve AE. Cloning of novel Wilms tumor gene (WT1) cDNAs; evidence for antisense transcription of WT1. Oncogene. 1994;9:2059-2063.

24. Malik KT, Wallace JI, Ivins SM, Brown KW. Identification of an antisense WT1 promoter in intron 1: implications for WT1 gene regulation. Oncogene. 1995;11:1589-1595.

25. Hewitt SM, Fraizer GC, Saunders GF. Transcriptional silencer of the Wilms' tumor gene WT1 contains an Alu repeat. J Biol Chem. 1995;270:17908-17912.

26. Wang ZY, Qiu QQ, Seufert W, et al. Molecular cloning of the cDNA and chromosome localization of the gene for human ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme 9. J Biol Chem. 1996;271:24811-24816.

27. Wilkinson KA, Henley JM. Mechanisms, regulation and consequences of protein SUMOylation. Biochem J. 2010;428:133-145.

28. Smolen GA, Vassileva MT, Wells J, Matunis MJ, Haber DA. SUMO-1 modification of the Wilms' tumor suppressor WT1. Cancer Res. 2004;64:7846-7851.

29. Sakamoto Y, Yoshida M, Semba K, Hunter T. Inhibition of the DNAbinding and transcriptional repression activity of the Wilms' tumor gene product, WT1, by cAMP-dependent protein kinase-mediated phosphorylation of Ser-365 and Ser-393 in the zinc finger domain. Oncogene. 1997;15:2001-2012.

30. Ye Y, Raychaudhuri B, Gurney A, Campbell CE, Williams BR. Regulation of WT1 by phosphorylation: inhibition of DNA binding, alteration of transcriptional activity and cellular translocation. EMBO J. 1996;15:5606-5615.

31. Bellon M, Nicot C. Central role of PI3K in transcriptional activation of hTERT in HTLV-I-infected cells. Blood. 2008;112:2946-2955.

32. Haber DA, Sohn RL, Buckler AJ, Pelletier J, Call KM, Housman DE. Alternative splicing and genomic structure of the Wilms tumor gene WT1. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1991;88:9618-9622.

33. Klamt B, Koziell A, Poulat F, et al. Frasier syndrome is caused by defective alternative splicing of WT1 leading to an altered ratio of WT1 +/-KTS splice isoforms. Hum Mol Genet. 1998;7:709-714.

34. Dutton JR, Lahiri D, Ward A. Different isoforms of the Wilms' tumour protein WT1 have distinct patterns of distribution and trafficking within the nucleus. Cell Prolif. 2006;39:519-535.

35. Ladomery MR, Slight J, Mc Ghee S, Hastie ND. Presence of WT1, the Wilm's tumor suppressor gene product, in nuclear poly(A)(+) ribonucleoprotein. J Biol Chem. 1999;274:36520-36526.

36. Morrison AA, Ladomery MR. Presence of WT1 in nuclear messenger RNP particles in the human acute myeloid leukemia cell lines HL60 and K562. Cancer Lett. 2006;244:136-141.

37. Larsson SH, Charlieu JP, Miyagawa K, et al. Subnuclear localization of WT1 in splicing or transcription factor domains is regulated by alternative splicing. Cell. 1995;81:391-401.

38. Bor YC, Swartz J, Morrison A, Rekosh D, Ladomery M, Hammarskjold ML. The Wilms' tumor 1 (WT1) gene (+KTS isoform) functions with a CTE to enhance translation from an unspliced RNA with a retained intron. Genes Dev. 2006;20:1597-1608.

39. Caricasole A, Duarte A, Larsson SH, et al. RNA binding by the Wilms tumor suppressor zinc finger proteins. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1996;93:7562-7566.

40. Nurmemmedov E, Thunnissen M. Expression, purification, and characterization of the 4 zinc finger region of human tumor suppressor WT1. Protein Expr Purif. 2006;46:379-389.

41. Kent J, Coriat AM, Sharpe PT, Hastie ND, van Heyningen V. The evolution of WT1 sequence and expression pattern in the vertebrates. Oncogene. 1995;11:1781-1792.

42. Miles C, Elgar G, Coles E, Kleinjan DJ, van Heyningen V, Hastie N. Complete sequencing of the Fugu WAGR region from WT1 to PAX6: dramatic compaction and conservation of synteny with human chromosome 11p13. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1998;95:13068-13072.

43. Semba K, Saito-Ueno R, Takayama G, Kondo M. cDNA cloning and its pronephros-specific expression of the Wilms' tumor suppressor gene, WT1, from Xenopus laevis. Gene. 1996;175:167-172.

44. Fallat ME, Donahoe PK. Intersex genetic anomalies with malignant potential. Curr Opin Pediatr. 2006;18:305-311.

45. Poulat F, Morin D, Konig A, et al. Distinct molecular origins for Denys-Drash and Frasier syndromes. Hum Genet. 1993;91:285-286.

46. Natoli TA, McDonald A, Alberta JA, Taglienti ME, Housman DE, Kreidberg JA. A mammal-specific exon of WT1 is not required for development or fertility. Mol Cell Biol. 2002;22:4433-4438.

47. Richard DJ, Schumacher V, Royer-Pokora B, Roberts SG. Par4 is a coactivator for a splice isoform-specific transcriptional activation domain in WT1. Genes Dev. 2001;15:328-339.

48. Ito K, Oji Y, Tatsumi N, et al. Antiapoptotic function of 17AA(+)WT1 (Wilms' tumor gene) isoforms on the intrinsic apoptosis pathway. Oncogene. 2006;25:4217-4229.

49. Scharnhorst V, van der Eb AJ, Jochemsen AG. WT1 proteins: functions in growth and differentiation. Gene. 2001;273:141-161.

50. Lee SB, Haber DA. Wilms tumor and the WT1 gene. Exp Cell Res. 2001;264:74-99.

51. Wagner N, Wagner KD, Schley G, et al. The Wilms' tumor suppressor Wt1 is associated with the differentiation of retinoblastoma cells. Cell Growth Differ. 2002;13:297-305.

52. Wagner N, Wagner KD, Hammes A, et al. A splice variant of the Wilms' tumour suppressor Wt1 is required for normal development of the olfactory system. Development. 2005;132:1327-1336.

53. Moore AW, McInnes L, Kreidberg J, Hastie ND, Schedl A. YAC complementation shows a requirement for Wt1 in the development of epicardium, adrenal gland and throughout nephrogenesis. Development. 1999;126:1845-1857.

54. Herzer U, Crocoll A, Barton D, Howells N, Englert C. The Wilms tumor suppressor gene wt1 is required for development of the spleen. Curr Biol. 1999;9:837-840.

55. Srichai MB, Konieczkowski M, Padiyar A, et al. A WT1 co-regulator controls podocyte phenotype by shuttling between adhesion structures and nucleus. J Biol Chem. 2004;279:14398-14408.

56. Rao MK, Pham J, Imam JS, et al. Tissue-specific RNAi reveals that WT1 expression in nurse cells controls germ cell survival and spermatogenesis. Genes Dev. 2006;20:147-152.

57. Makrigiannakis A, Coukos G, Mantani A, et al. Expression of Wilms' tumor suppressor gene (WT1) in human endometrium: regulation through decidual differentiation. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2001;86:5964-5972.

58. Fraizer GC, Patmasiriwat P, Zhang X, Saunders GF. Expression of the tumor suppressor gene WT1 in both human and mouse bone marrow. Blood. 1995;86:4704-4706.

59. Baird PN, Simmons PJ. Expression of the Wilms' tumor gene (WT1) in normal hemopoiesis. Exp Hematol. 1997;25:312-320.

60. Maurer U, Brieger J, Weidmann E, Mitrou PS, Hoelzer D, Bergmann L. The Wilms' tumor gene is expressed in a subset of CD34+ progenitors and downregulated early in the course of differentiation in vitro. Exp Hematol. 1997;25:945-950.

61. Hosen N, Sonoda Y, Oji Y, et al. Very low frequencies of human normal CD34+ haematopoietic progenitor cells express the Wilms' tumour gene WT1 at levels similar to those in leukaemia cells. Br J Haematol. 2002;116:409-420.

62. Ellisen LW, Carlesso N, Cheng T, Scadden DT, Haber DA. The Wilms tumor suppressor WT1 directs stage-specific quiescence and differentiation of human hematopoietic progenitor cells. Embo J. 2001;20:1897-1909.

63. Liu XW, Gong LJ, Guo LY, et al. The Wilms' tumor gene product WT1 mediates the down-regulation of the rat epidermal growth factor receptor by nerve growth factor in PC12 cells. J Biol Chem. 2001;276:5068-5073.

64. Roberts CT, Jr. Control of insulin-like growth factor (IGF) action by regulation of IGF-I receptor expression. Endocr J. 1996;43 Suppl:S49-55.

65. Svedberg H, Richter J, Gullberg U. Forced expression of the Wilms tumor 1 (WT1) gene inhibits proliferation of human hematopoietic CD34(+) progenitor cells. Leukemia. 2001;15:1914-1922.

66. Kudoh T, Ishidate T, Moriyama M, Toyoshima K, Akiyama T. G1 phase arrest induced by Wilms tumor protein WT1 is abrogated by cyclin/CDK complexes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1995;92:4517-4521.

67. Englert C, Maheswaran S, Garvin AJ, Kreidberg J, Haber DA. Induction of p21 by the Wilms' tumor suppressor gene WT1. Cancer Res. 1997;57:1429-1434.

68. Loeb DM, Korz D, Katsnelson M, Burwell EA, Friedman AD, Sukumar S. Cyclin E is a target of WT1 transcriptional repression. J Biol Chem. 2002;277:19627-19632.

69. Tuna M, Chavez-Reyes A, Tari AM. HER2/neu increases the expression of Wilms' Tumor 1 (WT1) protein to stimulate S-phase proliferation and inhibit apoptosis in breast cancer cells. Oncogene. 2005;24:1648-1652.

70. Nichols KE, Re GG, Yan YX, Garvin AJ, Haber DA. WT1 induces expression of insulin-like growth factor 2 in Wilms' tumor cells. Cancer Res. 1995;55:4540-4543.

71. Englert C, Hou X, Maheswaran S, et al. WT1 suppresses synthesis of the epidermal growth factor receptor and induces apoptosis. Embo J. 1995;14:4662-4675.

72. Mayo MW, Wang CY, Drouin SS, et al. WT1 modulates apoptosis by transcriptionally upregulating the bcl-2 proto-oncogene. Embo J. 1999;18:3990-4003.

73. Morrison DJ, English MA, Licht JD. WT1 induces apoptosis through transcriptional regulation of the proapoptotic Bcl-2 family member Bak. Cancer Res. 2005;65:8174-8182.

74. Simpson LA, Burwell EA, Thompson KA, Shahnaz S, Chen AR, Loeb DM. The antiapoptotic gene A1/BFL1 is a WT1 target gene that mediates granulocytic differentiation and resistance to chemotherapy. Blood. 2006;107:4695-4702.

75. Maheswaran S, Englert C, Bennett P, Heinrich G, Haber DA. The WT1 gene product stabilizes p53 and inhibits p53-mediated apoptosis. Genes Dev. 1995;9:2143-2156.

76. Hartkamp J, Carpenter B, Roberts SG. The Wilms' tumor suppressor protein WT1 is processed by the serine protease HtrA2/Omi. Mol Cell. 2010;37:159-171.

77. Svensson E, Vidovic K, Lassen C, et al. Deregulation of the Wilms' tumour gene 1 protein (WT1) by BCR/ABL1 mediates resistance to imatinib in human leukaemia cells. Leukemia. 2007;21:2485-2494.

78. Algar EM, Khromykh T, Smith SI, Blackburn DM, Bryson GJ, Smith PJ. A WT1 antisense oligonucleotide inhibits proliferation and induces apoptosis in myeloid leukaemia cell lines. Oncogene. 1996;12:1005-1014.

79. Elmaagacli AH, Koldehoff M, Peceny R, et al. WT1 and BCR-ABL specific small interfering RNA have additive effects in the induction of apoptosis in leukemic cells. Haematologica. 2005;90:326-334.

80. Menke AL, Shvarts A, Riteco N, van Ham RC, van der Eb AJ, Jochemsen AG. Wilms' tumor 1-KTS isoforms induce p53-independent apoptosis that can be partially rescued by expression of the epidermal growth factor receptor or the insulin receptor. Cancer Res. 1997;57:1353-1363.

81. Reddy JC, Hosono S, Licht JD. The transcriptional effect of WT1 is modulated by choice of expression vector. J Biol Chem. 1995;270:29976-29982.

82. Cao XM, Koski RA, Gashler A, et al. Identification and characterization of the Egr-1 gene product, a DNA-binding zinc finger protein induced by differentiation and growth signals. Mol Cell Biol. 1990;10:1931-1939.

83. Pavletich NP, Pabo CO. Zinc finger-DNA recognition: crystal structure of a Zif268-DNA complex at 2.1 A. Science. 1991;252:809-817.

84. Nakagama H, Heinrich G, Pelletier J, Housman DE. Sequence and structural requirements for high-affinity DNA binding by the WT1 gene product. Mol Cell Biol. 1995;15:1489-1498.

85. Dame C, Kirschner KM, Bartz KV, Wallach T, Hussels CS, Scholz H. Wilms tumor suppressor, Wt1, is a transcriptional activator of the erythropoietin gene. Blood. 2006;107:4282-4290.

86. Lee SB, Huang K, Palmer R, et al. The Wilms tumor suppressor WT1 encodes a transcriptional activator of amphiregulin. Cell. 1999;98:663-673.

87. Stanhope-Baker P, Williams BR. Identification of connective tissue growth factor as a target of WT1 transcriptional regulation. J Biol Chem. 2000;275:38139-38150.

88. Wang ZY, Madden SL, Deuel TF, Rauscher FJ, 3rd. The Wilms' tumor gene product, WT1, represses transcription of the platelet-derived growth factor A-chain gene. J Biol Chem. 1992;267:21999-22002.

89. Harrington MA, Konicek B, Song A, Xia XL, Fredericks WJ, Rauscher FJ, 3rd. Inhibition of colony-stimulating factor-1 promoter activity by the product of the Wilms' tumor locus. J Biol Chem. 1993;268:21271-21275.

90. Werner H, Shen-Orr Z, Rauscher FJ, 3rd, Morris JF, Roberts CT, Jr., LeRoith D. Inhibition of cellular proliferation by the Wilms' tumor suppressor WT1 is associated with suppression of insulin-like growth factor I receptor gene expression. Mol Cell Biol. 1995;15:3516-3522.

91. Han Y, Yang L, Suarez-Saiz F, San-Marina S, Cui J, Minden MD. Wilms' tumor 1 suppressor gene mediates antiestrogen resistance via down-regulation of estrogen receptor-alpha expression in breast cancer cells. Mol Cancer Res. 2008;6:1347-1355.

92. Kirschner KM, Hagen P, Hussels CS, Ballmaier M, Scholz H, Dame C. The Wilms' tumor suppressor Wt1 activates transcription of the erythropoietin receptor in hematopoietic progenitor cells. FASEB J. 2008;22:2690-2701.

93. Han Y, San-Marina S, Liu J, Minden MD. Transcriptional activation of c-myc proto-oncogene by WT1 protein. Oncogene. 2004;23:6933-6941.

94. Guan LS, Rauchman M, Wang ZY. Induction of Rb-associated protein (RbAp46) by Wilms' tumor suppressor WT1 mediates growth inhibition. J Biol Chem. 1998;273:27047-27050.

95. Li RS, Law GL, Seifert RA, Romaniuk PJ, Morris DR. Ornithine decarboxylase is a transcriptional target of tumor suppressor WT1. Exp Cell Res. 1999;247:257-266.

96. Udtha M, Lee SJ, Alam R, Coombes K, Huff V. Upregulation of c-MYC in WT1-mutant tumors: assessment of WT1 putative transcriptional targets using cDNA microarray expression profiling of genetically defined Wilms' tumors. Oncogene. 2003;22:3821-3826.

97. Kim HS, Kim MS, Hancock AL, et al. Identification of novel Wilms' tumor suppressor gene target genes implicated in kidney development. J Biol Chem. 2007;282:16278-16287.

98. Klattig J, Sierig R, Kruspe D, Besenbeck B, Englert C. Wilms' tumor protein Wt1 is an activator of the anti-Mullerian hormone receptor gene Amhr2. Mol Cell Biol. 2007;27:4355-4364.

99. Kim J, Prawitt D, Bardeesy N, et al. The Wilms' tumor suppressor gene (wt1) product regulates Dax-1 gene expression during gonadal differentiation. Mol Cell Biol. 1999;19:2289-2299.

100. Hossain A, Saunders GF. The human sex-determining gene SRY is a direct target of WT1. J Biol Chem. 2001;276:16817-16823.

101. Gross I, Morrison DJ, Hyink DP, et al. The receptor tyrosine kinase regulator Sprouty1 is a target of the tumor suppressor WT1 and important for kidney development. J Biol Chem. 2003;278:41420-41430.

102. Wagner N, Wagner KD, Scholz H, Kirschner KM, Schedl A. Intermediate filament protein nestin is expressed in developing kidney and heart and might be regulated by the Wilms' tumor suppressor Wt1. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol. 2006;291:R779-787.

103. Wagner KD, Wagner N, Schley G, Theres H, Scholz H. The Wilms' tumor suppressor Wt1 encodes a transcriptional activator of the class IV POU-domain factor Pou4f2 (Brn-3b). Gene. 2003;305:217-223.

104. Han X, Chesney RW. Regulation of taurine transporter gene (TauT) by WT1. FEBS Lett. 2003;540:71-76.

105. Kim MS, Yoon SK, Bollig F, et al. A novel Wilms Tumor 1 (WT1) target gene negatively regulates the WNT signaling pathway. J Biol Chem. 2010.

106. Wagner N, Wagner KD, Theres H, Englert C, Schedl A, Scholz H. Coronary vessel development requires activation of the TrkB neurotrophin receptor by the Wilms' tumor transcription factor Wt1. Genes Dev. 2005;19:2631-2642.

107. Lee TH, Pelletier J. Functional characterization of WT1 binding sites within the human vitamin D receptor gene promoter. Physiol Genomics. 2001;7:187-200.

108. Hosono S, Gross I, English MA, Hajra KM, Fearon ER, Licht JD. Ecadherin is a WT1 target gene. J Biol Chem. 2000;275:10943-10953.

109. Cook DM, Hinkes MT, Bernfield M, Rauscher FJ, 3rd. Transcriptional activation of the syndecan-1 promoter by the Wilms' tumor protein WT1. Oncogene. 1996;13:1789-1799.

110. Oh S, Song Y, Yim J, Kim TK. The Wilms' tumor 1 tumor suppressor gene represses transcription of the human telomerase reverse transcriptase gene. J Biol Chem. 1999;274:37473-37478.

111. Wagner N, Wagner KD, Xing Y, Scholz H, Schedl A. The major podocyte protein nephrin is transcriptionally activated by the Wilms' tumor suppressor WT1. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2004;15:3044-3051.

112. Palmer RE, Kotsianti A, Cadman B, Boyd T, Gerald W, Haber DA. WT1 regulates the expression of the major glomerular podocyte membrane protein Podocalyxin. Curr Biol. 2001;11:1805-1809.

113. Vidovic K, Svensson E, Nilsson B, et al. Wilms' tumor gene 1 protein represses the expression of the tumor suppressor interferon regulatory factor 8 in human hematopoietic progenitors and in leukemic cells. Leukemia. 2010.

114. Svensson E, Vidovic K, Olofsson T, Vallon-Christersson J, Borg A, Gullberg U. The Wilms' tumor gene 1 (WT1) induces expression of the N-myc downstream regulated gene 2 (NDRG2). DNA Cell Biol. 2007;26:589-597.

115. Svensson E, Eriksson H, Gekas C, Olofsson T, Richter J, Gullberg U. DNA-binding dependent and independent functions of WT1 protein during human hematopoiesis. Exp Cell Res. 2005;308:211-221.

116. Matsuzawa-Watanabe Y, Inoue J, Semba K. Transcriptional activity of testis-determining factor SRY is modulated by the Wilms' tumor 1 gene product, WT1. Oncogene. 2003;22:7900-7904.

117. Nachtigal MW, Hirokawa Y, Enyeart-VanHouten DL, Flanagan JN, Hammer GD, Ingraham HA. Wilms' tumor 1 and Dax-1 modulate the orphan nuclear receptor SF-1 in sex-specific gene expression. Cell. 1998;93:445-454.

118. Wang W, Lee SB, Palmer R, Ellisen LW, Haber DA. A functional interaction with CBP contributes to transcriptional activation by the Wilms tumor suppressor WT1. J Biol Chem. 2001;276:16810-16816.

119. Maheswaran S, Park S, Bernard A, et al. Physical and functional interaction between WT1 and p53 proteins. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1993;90:5100-5104.

120. Maheswaran S, Englert C, Lee SB, Ezzel RM, Settleman J, Haber DA. E1B 55K sequesters WT1 along with p53 within a cytoplasmic body in adenovirus-transformed kidney cells. Oncogene. 1998;16:2041-2050.

121. Johnstone RW, See RH, Sells SF, et al. A novel repressor, par-4, modulates transcription and growth suppression functions of the Wilms' tumor suppressor WT1. Mol Cell Biol. 1996;16:6945-6956.

122. Sells SF, Han SS, Muthukkumar S, et al. Expression and function of the leucine zipper protein Par-4 in apoptosis. Mol Cell Biol. 1997;17:3823-3832.

123. Carpenter B, Hill KJ, Charalambous M, et al. BASP1 is a transcriptional cosuppressor for the Wilms' tumor suppressor protein WT1. Mol Cell Biol. 2004;24:537-549.

124. Maheswaran S, Englert C, Zheng G, et al. Inhibition of cellular proliferation by the Wilms tumor suppressor WT1 requires association with the inducible chaperone Hsp70. Genes Dev. 1998;12:1108-1120.

125. Discenza MT, He S, Lee TH, et al. WT1 is a modifier of the Pax2 mutant phenotype: cooperation and interaction between WT1 and Pax2. Oncogene. 2003;22:8145-8155.

126. Rong Y, Cheng L, Ning H, et al. Wilms' tumor 1 and signal transducers and activators of transcription 3 synergistically promote cell proliferation: a possible mechanism in sporadic Wilms' tumor. Cancer Res. 2006;66:8049-8057.

127. Moffett P, Bruening W, Nakagama H, et al. Antagonism of WT1 activity by protein self-association. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1995;92:11105-11109.

128. Lee TH, Lwu S, Kim J, Pelletier J. Inhibition of Wilms tumor 1 transactivation by bone marrow zinc finger 2, a novel transcriptional repressor. J Biol Chem. 2002;277:44826-44837.

129. Johnstone RW, Wang J, Tommerup N, Vissing H, Roberts T, Shi Y. Ciao 1 is a novel WD40 protein that interacts with the tumor suppressor protein WT1. J Biol Chem. 1998;273:10880-10887.

130. Kim JM, Hong Y, Semba K, Kim S. Physical and functional interaction between the HCMV IE2 protein and the Wilms' tumor suppressor WT1. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2000;267:59-63.

131. Scharnhorst V, Dekker P, van der Eb AJ, Jochemsen AG. Physical interaction between Wilms tumor 1 and p73 proteins modulates their functions. J Biol Chem. 2000;275:10202-10211.

132. Davies RC, Calvio C, Bratt E, Larsson SH, Lamond AI, Hastie ND. WT1 interacts with the splicing factor U2AF65 in an isoform-dependent manner and can be incorporated into spliceosomes. Genes Dev. 1998;12:3217-3225.

133.Little NA, Hastie ND, Davies RC. Identification of WTAP, a novelWilms' tumour 1-associating protein. Hum Mol Genet. 2000;9:2231-2239.

134. Caldon CE, Lee CS, Sutherland RL, Musgrove EA. Wilms' tumor protein 1: an early target of progestin regulation in T-47D breast cancer cells that modulates proliferation and differentiation. Oncogene. 2008;27:126-138.

135. Campbell CE, Kuriyan NP, Rackley RR, et al. Constitutive expression of the Wilms tumor suppressor gene (WT1) in renal cell carcinoma. Int J Cancer. 1998;78:182-188.

136. Rodeck U, Bossler A, Kari C, et al. Expression of the wt1 Wilms' tumor gene by normal and malignant human melanocytes. Int J Cancer. 1994;59:78-82.

137. Viel A, Giannini F, Capozzi E, et al. Molecular mechanisms possibly affecting WT1 function in human ovarian tumors. Int J Cancer. 1994;57:515-521.

138. Loeb DM, Evron E, Patel CB, et al. Wilms' tumor suppressor gene (WT1) is expressed in primary breast tumors despite tumor-specific promoter methylation. Cancer Res. 2001;61:921-925.

139. Oji Y, Miyoshi S, Maeda H, et al. Overexpression of the Wilms' tumor gene WT1 in de novo lung cancers. Int J Cancer. 2002;100:297-303.

140. Amin KM, Litzky LA, Smythe WR, et al. Wilms' tumor 1 susceptibility (WT1) gene products are selectively expressed in malignant mesothelioma. Am J Pathol. 1995;146:344-356.

141. Amini Nik S, Hohenstein P, Jadidizadeh A, et al. Upregulation of Wilms' tumor gene 1 (WT1) in desmoid tumors. Int J Cancer. 2005;114:202-208.

142. Oji Y, Suzuki T, Nakano Y, et al. Overexpression of the Wilms' tumor gene W T1 in primary astrocytic tumors. Cancer Sci. 2004;95:822-827.

143. Miwa H, Beran M, Saunders GF. Expression of the Wilms' tumor gene (WT1) in human leukemias. Leukemia. 1992;6:405-409.

144. Miyagi T, Ahuja H, Kubota T, Kubonishi I, Koeffler HP, Miyoshi I. Expression of the candidate Wilm's tumor gene, WT1, in human leukemia cells. Leukemia. 1993;7:970-977.

145. Oka Y, Tsuboi A, Taguchi T, et al. Induction of WT1 (Wilms' tumor gene)-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes by WT1 peptide vaccine and the resultant cancer regression. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2004;101:13885-13890.

146. Zhu J, Emerson SG. Hematopoietic cytokines, transcription factors and lineage commitment. Oncogene. 2002;21:3295-3313.

147. Kondo M, Wagers AJ, Manz MG, et al. Biology of hematopoietic stem cells and progenitors: implications for clinical application. Annu Rev Immunol. 2003;21:759-806.

148. Austin TW, Solar GP, Ziegler FC, Liem L, Matthews W. A role for the Wnt gene family in hematopoiesis: expansion of multilineage progenitor cells. Blood. 1997;89:3624-3635.

149. Karanu FN, Murdoch B, Gallacher L, et al. The notch ligand jagged-1 represents a novel growth factor of human hematopoietic stem cells. J Exp Med. 2000;192:1365-1372.

150. Varnum-Finney B, Xu L, Brashem-Stein C, et al. Pluripotent, cytokinedependent, hematopoietic stem cells are immortalized by constitutive Notch1 signaling. Nat Med. 2000;6:1278-1281.

151. Bhardwaj G, Murdoch B, Wu D, et al. Sonic hedgehog induces the proliferation of primitive human hematopoietic cells via BMP regulation. Nat Immunol. 2001;2:172-180.

152. Sim EU, Smith A, Szilagi E, et al. Wnt-4 regulation by the Wilms' tumour suppressor gene, WT1. Oncogene. 2002;21:2948-2960.

153. Kim MK, McGarry TJ, P OB, Flatow JM, Golden AA, Licht JD. An integrated genome screen identifies the Wnt signaling pathway as a major target of WT1. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2009;106:11154-11159.

154. Sigvardsson M. New light on the biology and developmental potential of haematopoietic stem cells and progenitor cells. J Intern Med. 2009;266:311-324.

155. Eliasson P, Jonsson JI. The hematopoietic stem cell niche: low in oxygen but a nice place to be. J Cell Physiol. 2010;222:17-22.

156. Tamura T, Ozato K. ICSBP/IRF-8: its regulatory roles in the development of myeloid cells. J Interferon Cytokine Res. 2002;22:145-152.

157. Hosen N, Shirakata T, Nishida S, et al. The Wilms' tumor gene WT1-GFP knock-in mouse reveals the dynamic regulation of WT1 expression in normal and leukemic hematopoiesis. Leukemia. 2007;21:1783-1791.

158. King-Underwood L, Little S, Baker M, et al. Wt1 is not essential for hematopoiesis in the mouse. Leuk Res. 2005;29:803-812.

159. Alberta JA, Springett GM, Rayburn H, et al. Role of the WT1 tumor suppressor in murine hematopoiesis. Blood. 2003;101:2570-2574.

160. Nishida S, Hosen N, Shirakata T, et al. AML1-ETO rapidly induces acute myeloblastic leukemia in cooperation with the Wilms tumor gene, WT1. Blood. 2006;107:3303-3312.

161. Rosenfeld C, Cheever MA, Gaiger A. WT1 in acute leukemia, chronic myelogenous leukemia and myelodysplastic syndrome: therapeutic potential of WT1 targeted therapies. Leukemia. 2003;17:1301-1312.

162. Owen C, Fitzgibbon J, Paschka P. The clinical relevance of Wilms Tumour 1 (WT1) gene mutations in acute leukaemia. Hematol Oncol. 2010;28:13-19.

163. Siehl JM, Reinwald M, Heufelder K, Menssen HD, Keilholz U, Thiel E. Expression of Wilms' tumor gene 1 at different stages of acute myeloid leukemia and analysis of its major splice variants. Ann Hematol. 2004;83:745-750.

164. Yang L, Han Y, Suarez Saiz F, Minden MD. A tumor suppressor and oncogene: the WT1 story. Leukemia. 2007;21:868-876.

165. Heesch S, Goekbuget N, Stroux A, et al. Prognostic implications of mutations and expression of the Wilms tumor 1 (WT1) gene in adult acute T-lymphoblastic leukemia. Haematologica. 2010;95:942-949.

166. Patmasiriwat P, Fraizer G, Kantarjian H, Saunders GF. WT1 and GATA1 expression in myelodysplastic syndrome and acute leukemia. Leukemia. 1999;13:891-900.

167. Bergmann L, Miething C, Maurer U, et al. High levels of Wilms' tumor gene (wt1) mRNA in acute myeloid leukemias are associated with a worse long-term outcome. Blood. 1997;90:1217-1225.

168. Trka J, Kalinova M, Hrusak O, et al. Real-time quantitative PCR detection of WT1 gene expression in children with AML: prognostic significance, correlation with disease status and residual disease detection by flow cytometry. Leukemia. 2002;16:1381-1389.

169. Maurer U, Weidmann E, Karakas T, Hoelzer D, Bergmann L. Wilms tumor gene (wt1) mRNA is equally expressed in blast cells from acute myeloid leukemia and normal CD34+ progenitors. Blood. 1997;90:4230-4232.

170. Inoue K, Ogawa H, Sonoda Y, et al. Aberrant overexpression of the Wilms tumor gene (WT1) in human leukemia. Blood. 1997;89:1405-1412.

171. Chiusa L, Francia di Celle P, Campisi P, Ceretto C, Marmont F, Pich A. Prognostic value of quantitative analysis of WT1 gene transcripts in adult acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Haematologica. 2006;91:270-271.

172. Barragan E, Cervera J, Bolufer P, et al. Prognostic implications of Wilms' tumor gene (WT1) expression in patients with de novo acute myeloid leukemia. Haematologica. 2004;89:926-933.

173. Cilloni D, Gottardi E, Messa F, et al. Significant correlation between the degree of WT1 expression and the International Prognostic Scoring System Score in patients with myelodysplastic syndromes. J Clin Oncol. 2003;21:1988-1995.

174. Candoni A, Tiribelli M, Toffoletti E, et al. Quantitative assessment of WT1 gene expression after allogeneic stem cell transplantation is a useful tool for monitoring minimal residual disease in acute myeloid leukemia. Eur J Haematol. 2009;82:61-68.

175. Yanada M, Terakura S, Yokozawa T, et al. Multiplex real-time RT-PCR for prospective evaluation of WT1 and fusion gene transcripts in newly diagnosed de novo acute myeloid leukemia. Leuk Lymphoma. 2004;45:1803-1808.

176. Boublikova L, Kalinova M, Ryan J, et al. Wilms' tumor gene 1 (WT1) expression in childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia: a wide range of WT1 expression levels, its impact on prognosis and minimal residual disease monitoring. Leukemia. 2006;20:254-263.

177. Kreuzer KA, Saborowski A, Lupberger J, et al. Fluorescent 5'exonuclease assay for the absolute quantification of Wilms' tumour gene (WT1) mRNA: implications for monitoring human leukaemias. Br J Haematol. 2001;114:313-318.

178. Ostergaard M, Olesen LH, Hasle H, Kjeldsen E, Hokland P. WT1 gene expression: an excellent tool for monitoring minimal residual disease in 70% of acute myeloid leukaemia patients - results from a single-centre study. Br J Haematol. 2004;125:590-600.

179. Tamaki H, Mishima M, Kawakami M, et al. Monitoring minimal residual disease in leukemia using real-time quantitative polymerase chain reaction for Wilms tumor gene (WT1). Int J Hematol. 2003;78:349-356.

180. Bader P, Niemeyer C, Weber G, et al. WT1 gene expression: useful marker for minimal residual disease in childhood myelodysplastic syndromes and juvenile myelo-monocytic leukemia? Eur J Haematol. 2004;73:25-28.

181. Inoue K, Sugiyama H, Ogawa H, et al. WT1 as a new prognostic factor and a new marker for the detection of minimal residual disease in acute leukemia. Blood. 1994;84:3071-3079.

182. Kim SC, Yoo NC, Hahn JS, et al. Monitoring of WT-1 gene expression in peripheral blood of patients with acute leukemia by semiquantitative RT-PCR; possible marker for detection of minimal residual leukemia. Yonsei Med J. 1997;38:212-219.

183. Ogawa H, Tsuboi A, Oji Y, et al. Successful donor leukocyte transfusion at molecular relapse for a patient with acute myeloid leukemia who was treated with allogenic bone marrow transplantation: importance of the monitoring of minimal residual disease by WT1 assay. Bone Marrow Transplant. 1998;21:525-527.

184. Tamaki H, Ogawa H, Ohyashiki K, et al. The Wilms' tumor gene WT1 is a good marker for diagnosis of disease progression of myelodysplastic syndromes. Leukemia. 1999;13:393-399.

185. Gaiger A, Reese V, Disis ML, Cheever MA. Immunity to WT1 in the animal model and in patients with acute myeloid leukemia. Blood. 2000;96:1480-1489.

186. Keilholz U, Letsch A, Busse A, et al. A clinical and immunologic phase 2 trial of Wilms tumor gene product 1 (WT1) peptide vaccination in patients with AML and MDS. Blood. 2009;113:6541-6548.

187. Rezvani K, Yong AS, Mielke S, et al. Leukemia-associated antigenspecific T-cell responses following combined PR1 and WT1 peptide vaccination in patients with myeloid malignancies. Blood. 2008;111:236-242.

188. Hubinger G, Schmid M, Linortner S, Manegold A, Bergmann L, Maurer U. Ribozyme-mediated cleavage of wt1 transcripts suppresses growth of leukemia cells. Exp Hematol. 2001;29:1226-1235.

189. Yamagami T, Sugiyama H, Inoue K, et al. Growth inhibition of human leukemic cells by WT1 (Wilms tumor gene) antisense oligodeoxynucleotides: implications for the involvement of WT1 in leukemogenesis. Blood. 1996;87:2878-2884.

190. Inoue K, Tamaki H, Ogawa H, et al. Wilms' tumor gene (WT1) competes with differentiation-inducing signal in hematopoietic progenitor cells. Blood. 1998;91:2969-2976.

191. Svedberg H, Chylicki K, Baldetorp B, Rauscher FJ, 3rd, Gullberg U. Constitutive expression of the Wilms' tumor gene (WT1) in the leukemic cell line U937 blocks parts of the differentiation program. Oncogene. 1998;16:925-932.

192. Deuel TF, Guan LS, Wang ZY. Wilms' tumor gene product WT1 arrests macrophage differentiation of HL-60 cells through its zinc-finger domain. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 1999;254:192-196.

193. Gu W, Chen Z, Hu S, Shen H, Qiu G, Cao X. Changes in expression of WT1 isoforms during induced differentiation of the NB4 cell line. Haematologica. 2005;90:403-405.

194. Phelan SA, Lindberg C, Call KM. Wilms' tumor gene, WT1, mRNA is down-regulated during induction of erythroid and megakaryocytic differentiation of K562 cells. Cell Growth Differ. 1994;5:677-686.

195. Sekiya M, Adachi M, Hinoda Y, Imai K, Yachi A. Downregulation of Wilms' tumor gene (wt1) during myelomonocytic differentiation in HL60 cells. Blood. 1994;83:1876-1882.

196. Tsuboi A, Oka Y, Ogawa H, et al. Constitutive expression of the Wilms' tumor gene WT1 inhibits the differentiation of myeloid progenitor cells but promotes their proliferation in response to granulocyte-colony stimulating factor (G-CSF). Leuk Res. 1999;23:499-505.

197. Pritchard-Jones K, Renshaw J, King-Underwood L. The Wilms tumour (WT1) gene is mutated in a secondary leukaemia in a WAGR patient. Hum Mol Genet. 1994;3:1633-1637.

198. King-Underwood L, Pritchard-Jones K. Wilms' tumor (WT1) gene mutations occur mainly in acute myeloid leukemia and may confer drug resistance. Blood. 1998;91:2961-2968.

199. Summers K, Stevens J, Kakkas I, et al. Wilms' tumour 1 mutations are associated with FLT3-ITD and failure of standard induction chemotherapy in patients with normal karyotype AML. Leukemia. 2007;21:550-551; author reply 552.

200. Paschka P, Marcucci G, Ruppert AS, et al. Wilms' tumor 1 gene mutations independently predict poor outcome in adults with cytogenetically normal acute myeloid leukemia: a cancer and leukemia group B study. J Clin Oncol. 2008;26:4595-4602.

201. Virappane P, Gale R, Hills R, et al. Mutation of the Wilms' tumor 1 gene is a poor prognostic factor associated with chemotherapy resistance in normal karyotype acute myeloid leukemia: the United Kingdom Medical Research Council Adult Leukaemia Working Party. J Clin Oncol. 2008;26:5429-5435.

202. Abbas S, Erpelinck-Verschueren CA, Goudswaard CS, Lowenberg B, Valk PJ. Mutant Wilms' tumor 1 (WT1) mRNA with premature termination codons in acute myeloid leukemia (AML) is sensitive to nonsense-mediated RNA decay (NMD). Leukemia. 2010;24:660-663.

203. Gaidzik VI, Schlenk RF, Moschny S, et al. Prognostic impact of WT1 mutations in cytogenetically normal acute myeloid leukemia: a study of the German-Austrian AML Study Group. Blood. 2009;113:4505-4511.

204. Hollink IH, van den Heuvel-Eibrink MM, Zimmermann M, et al. Clinical relevance of Wilms tumor 1 gene mutations in childhood acute myeloid leukemia. Blood. 2009;113:5951-5960.

205. Willasch AM, Gruhn B, Coliva T, et al. Standardization of WT1 mRNA quantitation for minimal residual disease monitoring in childhood AML and implications of WT1 gene mutations: a European multicenter study. Leukemia. 2009;23:1472-1479.

206. Fitzgibbon J, Smith LL, Raghavan M, et al. Association between acquired uniparental disomy and homozygous gene mutation in acute myeloid leukemias. Cancer Res. 2005;65:9152-9154.

207. Tosello V, Mansour MR, Barnes K, et al. WT1 mutations in T-ALL. Blood. 2009;114:1038-1045.

208. Algar E. A review of the Wilms' tumor 1 gene (WT1) and its role in hematopoiesis and leukemia. J Hematother Stem Cell Res. 2002;11:589-599.

209. Cilloni D, Messa F, Gottardi E, et al. Sensitivity to imatinib therapy may be predicted by testing Wilms tumor gene expression and colony growth after a short in vitro incubation. Cancer. 2004;101:979-988.

210. Brauer KM, Werth D, von Schwarzenberg K, et al. BCR-ABL activity is critical for the immunogenicity of chronic myelogenous leukemia cells. Cancer Res. 2007;67:5489-5497.

211. Schnittger S, Bacher U, Kern W, et al. RQ-PCR based WT1 expression in comparison to BCR-ABL quantification can predict Philadelphia negative clonal evolution in patients with imatinib-treated chronic myeloid leukaemia. Br J Haematol. 2009;146:665-668.

212. Wong S, Witte ON. The BCR-ABL story: bench to bedside and back. Annu Rev Immunol. 2004;22:247-306.
213. Sattler M, Salgia R. Activation of hematopoietic growth factor signal transduction pathways by the human oncogene BCR/ABL. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev. 1997;8:63-79.

214. Ren R. Mechanisms of BCR-ABL in the pathogenesis of chronic myelogenous leukaemia. Nat Rev Cancer. 2005;5:172-183.

215. Gilliland DG, Griffin JD. The roles of FLT3 in hematopoiesis and leukemia. Blood. 2002;100:1532-1542.

216. Meshinchi S, Appelbaum FR. Structural and functional alterations of FLT3 in acute myeloid leukemia. Clin Cancer Res. 2009;15:4263-4269.

217. Zhao W, Kitidis C, Fleming MD, Lodish HF, Ghaffari S. Erythropoietin stimulates phosphorylation and activation of GATA-1 via the PI3-kinase/AKT signaling pathway. Blood. 2006;107:907-915.

218. Iida H, Towatari M, Tanimoto M, Morishita Y, Kodera Y, Saito H. Overexpression of cyclin E in acute myelogenous leukemia. Blood. 1997;90:3707-3713.

219. Rosenbauer F, Owens BM, Yu L, et al. Lymphoid cell growth and transformation are suppressed by a key regulatory element of the gene encoding PU.1. Nat Genet. 2006;38:27-37.

220. Ozato K, Tailor P, Kubota T. The interferon regulatory factor family in host defense: mechanism of action. J Biol Chem. 2007;282:20065-20069.

221. Kanno Y, Kozak CA, Schindler C, et al. The genomic structure of the murine ICSBP gene reveals the presence of the gamma interferon-responsive element, to which an ISGF3 alpha subunit (or similar) molecule binds. Mol Cell Biol. 1993;13:3951-3963.

222. Barber SA, Fultz MJ, Salkowski CA, Vogel SN. Differential expression of interferon regulatory factor 1 (IRF-1), IRF-2, and interferon consensus sequence binding protein genes in lipopolysaccharide (LPS)-responsive and LPS-hyporesponsive macrophages. Infect Immun. 1995;63:601-608.

223. Nardi V, Naveiras O, Azam M, Daley GQ. ICSBP-mediated immune protection against BCR-ABL-induced leukemia requires the CCL6 and CCL9 chemokines. Blood. 2009;113:3813-3820.

224. Tamura T, Yanai H, Savitsky D, Taniguchi T. The IRF family transcription factors in immunity and oncogenesis. Annu Rev Immunol. 2008;26:535-584.

225. Milanovic M, Terszowski G, Struck D, Liesenfeld O, Carstanjen D. IFN consensus sequence binding protein (Icsbp) is critical for eosinophil development. J Immunol. 2008;181:5045-5053.

226. Holtschke T, Lohler J, Kanno Y, et al. Immunodeficiency and chronic myelogenous leukemia-like syndrome in mice with a targeted mutation of the ICSBP gene. Cell. 1996;87:307-317.

227. Huang W, Saberwal G, Horvath E, Zhu C, Lindsey S, Eklund EA. Leukemia-associated, constitutively active mutants of SHP2 protein tyrosine phosphatase inhibit NF1 transcriptional activation by the interferon consensus sequence binding protein. Mol Cell Biol. 2006;26:6311-6332.

228. Zhu C, Saberwal G, Lu Y, Platanias LC, Eklund EA. The interferon consensus sequence-binding protein activates transcription of the gene encoding neurofibromin 1. J Biol Chem. 2004;279:50874-50885.

229. Gabriele L, Phung J, Fukumoto J, et al. Regulation of apoptosis in myeloid cells by interferon consensus sequence-binding protein. J Exp Med. 1999;190:411-421.

230. Schmidt M, Nagel S, Proba J, et al. Lack of interferon consensus sequence binding protein (ICSBP) transcripts in human myeloid leukemias. Blood. 1998;91:22-29.

231. Hao SX, Ren R. Expression of interferon consensus sequence binding protein (ICSBP) is downregulated in Bcr-Abl-induced murine chronic myelogenous leukemia-like disease, and forced coexpression of ICSBP inhibits Bcr-Abl-induced myeloproliferative disorder. Mol Cell Biol. 2000;20:1149-1161.

232. Yang D, Thangaraju M, Greeneltch K, et al. Repression of IFN regulatory factor 8 by DNA methylation is a molecular determinant of apoptotic resistance and metastatic phenotype in metastatic tumor cells. Cancer Res. 2007;67:3301-3309.

233. McGough JM, Yang D, Huang S, et al. DNA methylation represses IFN-gamma-induced and signal transducer and activator of transcription 1-mediated IFN regulatory factor 8 activation in colon carcinoma cells. Mol Cancer Res. 2008;6:1841-1851.

234. Metzeler KH, Hummel M, Bloomfield CD, et al. An 86-probe-set geneexpression signature predicts survival in cytogenetically normal acute myeloid leukemia. Blood. 2008;112:4193-4201.

235. Verhaak RG, Wouters BJ, Erpelinck CA, et al. Prediction of molecular subtypes in acute myeloid leukemia based on gene expression profiling. Haematologica. 2009;94:131-134.

236. Zheng C, Li L, Haak M, et al. Gene expression profiling of CD34+ cells identifies a molecular signature of chronic myeloid leukemia blast crisis. Leukemia. 2006;20:1028-1034.

237. Valk PJ, Verhaak RG, Beijen MA, et al. Prognostically useful geneexpression profiles in acute myeloid leukemia. N Engl J Med. 2004;350:1617-1628.

238. Tamura T, Kong HJ, Tunyaplin C, Tsujimura H, Calame K, Ozato K. ICSBP/IRF-8 inhibits mitogenic activity of p210 Bcr/Abl in differentiating myeloid progenitor cells. Blood. 2003;102:4547-4554.

239. Burchert A, Cai D, Hofbauer LC, et al. Interferon consensus sequence binding protein (ICSBP; IRF-8) antagonizes BCR/ABL and down-regulates bcl-2. Blood. 2004;103:3480-3489.

240. Hara T, Schwieger M, Kazama R, et al. Acceleration of chronic myeloproliferation by enforced expression of Meis1 or Meis3 in Icsbp-deficient bone marrow cells. Oncogene. 2008;27:3865-3869.

241. Koenigsmann J, Rudolph C, Sander S, et al. Nf1 haploinsufficiency and Icsbp deficiency synergize in the development of leukemias. Blood. 2009;113:4690-4701.

242. Lee KY, Geng H, Ng KM, et al. Epigenetic disruption of interferongamma response through silencing the tumor suppressor interferon regulatory factor 8 in nasopharyngeal, esophageal and multiple other carcinomas. Oncogene. 2008;27:5267-5276.

243. Okuda T, Kondoh H. Identification of new genes ndr2 and ndr3 which are related to Ndr1/RTP/Drg1 but show distinct tissue specificity and response to N-myc. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 1999;266:208-215.

244. Nichols NR. Ndrg2, a novel gene regulated by adrenal steroids and antidepressants, is highly expressed in astrocytes. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2003;1007:349-356.

245. Mitchelmore C, Buchmann-Moller S, Rask L, West MJ, Troncoso JC, Jensen NA. NDRG2: a novel Alzheimer's disease associated protein. Neurobiol Dis. 2004;16:48-58.

246. Hu XL, Liu XP, Deng YC, et al. Expression analysis of the NDRG2 gene in mouse embryonic and adult tissues. Cell Tissue Res. 2006;325:67-76.

247. Qu X, Zhai Y, Wei H, et al. Characterization and expression of three novel differentiation-related genes belong to the human NDRG gene family. Mol Cell Biochem. 2002;229:35-44.

248. Choi SC, Kim KD, Kim JT, et al. Expression and regulation of NDRG2 (N-myc downstream regulated gene 2) during the differentiation of dendritic cells. FEBS Lett. 2003;553:413-418.

249. Tschan MP, Shan D, Laedrach J, et al. NDRG1/2 expression is inhibited in primary acute myeloid leukemia. Leuk Res. 2010;34:393-398.

250. Choi SC, Kim KD, Kim JT, et al. NDRG2 is one of novel intrinsic factors for regulation of IL-10 production in human myeloid cell. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2010;396:684-690.

251. Deng Y, Yao L, Chau L, et al. N-Myc downstream-regulated gene 2 (NDRG2) inhibits glioblastoma cell proliferation. Int J Cancer. 2003;106:342-347.

252. Forsberg EC, Passegue E, Prohaska SS, et al. Molecular signatures of quiescent, mobilized and leukemia-initiating hematopoietic stem cells. PLoS One. 2010;5:e8785.

253. Kim YJ, Yoon SY, Kim JT, et al. NDRG2 expression decreases with tumor stages and regulates TCF/beta-catenin signaling in human colon carcinoma. Carcinogenesis. 2009;30:598-605.

254. Nusse R. Cancer. Converging on beta-catenin in Wilms tumor. Science. 2007;316:988-989.

255. Kuzmiak HA, Maquat LE. Applying nonsense-mediated mRNA decay research to the clinic: progress and challenges. Trends Mol Med. 2006;12:306-316.

256. Hennighausen L, Robinson GW. Interpretation of cytokine signaling through the transcription factors STAT5A and STAT5B. Genes Dev. 2008;22:711-721.

257. Harir N, Pecquet C, Kerenyi M, et al. Constitutive activation of Stat5 promotes its cytoplasmic localization and association with PI3-kinase in myeloid leukemias. Blood. 2007;109:1678-1686.

258. Wagner KJ, Patek CE, Cunningham A, Taylor AH, Hooper ML, Ansell JD. C-terminal truncation of WT1 delays but does not abolish hematopoiesis in embryoid bodies. Blood Cells Mol Dis. 2002;28:428-435.

Appendix: Papers I-IV